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Overview
Established in 2003, we were mainly engaged in the provision of full spectrum private fundamental education, including 
primary, middle and high schools in the PRC and ancillary services to students. As a result of the issuance of the 
Implementation Regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on the Law Regarding the Promotion of Private 
Education (the “Implementation Regulations”) which came into effect on 1 September 2021, the business of provision 
of full spectrum private fundamental education conducted through Affected Entities* in the PRC were deconsolidated on 
31 August 2021 and we are no longer engaged in the operation of private schools providing compulsory education since 
1 September 2021. Our Remaining Business* is mainly engaged in the school-related supply chain business and provision 
of comprehensive educational services to students of primary, middle and high schools and other customers in the PRC.

Our Remaining Business aims to offer high quality educational services to students as a valuable supplement to the 
curriculum educational services provided by schools to promote all-rounded development of students. Students’ well-being 
is at the core of our values and we will continue to provide our educational services in a manner consistent with the 
values and attitudes in which we believe.

Our Educational Philosophy
Our educational objectives are “to serve the society with honesty and integrity through our services” and “to cultivate 
talents with a warm and loving heart” (以誠心服務社會，以愛心培育人才). To achieve our objectives, we have established 
the following educational philosophy: enhance morality and foster talents; nurture worthy and capable, sincere and 
upright graduates (賢良方正，立德樹人).

* Affected Entities and Remaining Business are defined in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Results

Year ended 31 August

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 1,246,920 1,681,530 1,792,728 2,263,747 277,587
Cost of revenue (702,054) (939,836) (924,792) (1,258,793) (123,149)
Gross profit 544,866 741,694 867,936 1,004,954 154,438
Profit/(loss) before taxation 345,561 409,275 613,364 (2,222,166) 122,382
Taxation (38,379) (55,697) (111,683) (56,400) (26,197)
Profit/(loss) for the year 307,182 353,578 501,681 (2,278,566) 96,185

Assets and Liabilities

At 31 August

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 4,003,316 4,676,090 6,308,636 7,624 289,983

Current assets 1,468,347 1,595,205 1,609,429 1,397,893 1,079,745
Current liabilities 1,643,291 2,479,732 1,672,493 824,626 676,799
Net current (liabilities)/assets (174,944) (884,527) (63,064) 573,267 402,946

Total assets less current liabilities 3,828,372 3,791,563 6,245,572 580,891 692,929

Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company 1,911,065 2,161,298 2,960,526 578,648 447,691

Non-controlling interests 66,276 85,517 128,727 — —
Non-current liabilities 1,851,031 1,544,748 3,156,319 2,243 245,238

3,828,372 3,791,563 6,245,572 580,891 692,929
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, I am pleased to present the annual report of the 
Company comprising the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2022.

After the effective of the Implementation Regulations on 1 September 2021, we have adjusted our strategy and shifted 
to focus on growing the Remaining Business, which consists of school-related supply chain business and provision of 
comprehensive educational services. Compared with the year ended 31 August 2021, revenue of Remaining Business 
has increased by 26.4% to RMB277.6 million for the year ended 31 August 2022. We achieved a net profit of RMB96.2 
million for the year ended 31 August 2022, turning from a loss of RMB2,278.6 million for the year ended 31 August 
2021. Core net profit from Remaining Business, a non-IFRS measure after adjusting for items which are not indicative of 
the Group’s operating performance, has increased by 47.4% to RMB116.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2022.
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Chairperson’s Statement (Continued)

Such a business turnaround is remarkable especially considering we have strictly complied with the requirements of the 
various epidemic prevention and control measures taken by the PRC government to contain the spread of COVID-19 
across China during the year. I am really grateful for the efforts of our Board members, senior management and all 
the other employees. The achievement this year has once again proven the execution capacity of our management. 
Leveraging on our years of experiences in the industry, we will strive to build up a comprehensive educational supply 
chain platform and become a one-stop educational services provider, with the aim to promote all-rounded development 
of students.

Moreover, we will continue to use our best endeavours to spin off the high school portion from the schools of the 
Affected Entities in a manner that is in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

Appreciation
I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our students and their parents, suppliers, bankers, 
professional parties, local government authorities and our shareholders for their continuous support. I would also like to 
thank our Board members and senior management, principals, teachers and staff for their endeavours and contributions 
to our Group.

Li Suwen
Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited
Chairperson

Dongguan, 30 November 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW
As a result of the issuance of the Implementation Regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on the 
Law Regarding the Promotion of Private Education (the “Implementation Regulations”) which came into effect on 1 
September 2021, we are no longer engaged in the operation of private schools providing compulsory education since 1 
September 2021. We have made a strategic shift to focus on the expansion of the asset-light Remaining Business and to 
actively explore the feasibility of the operation of independent high school(s). Specifically, in the year ended 31 August 
2022, the Group is engaged in the following three business lines and will continue to expand its business according to 
the same strategy:

(1) Comprehensive Educational Services for All-rounded Development of Students
Over the past years of education experience, the Group has developed a comprehensive and mature system 
providing high-quality, tailor-made and enriching non-curriculum activities for students and established long-term 
strategic partnership with certain third party after-school tutoring institutions, which has achieved remarkable results. 
Our total solution services aim to provide full cycle management services of a variety of after-school enrichment 
activities like study tours, summer/winter camps, sports and arts group activities, etc. Services include but are not 
limited to the design of the course and implementation plan, execution and technical assurance, post-activity review 
and assessment, in cooperation with third party after-school tutoring institutions in the year ended 31 August 2022. 
Please refer to “FINANCIAL REVIEW – Financial Review of the Remaining Business” for further details. 

(2) School-related Supply Chain Business
The Group sells daily necessities, e.g. school uniforms, bedding products, stationery products, and other educational 
materials. Leveraging on the years of experience in the supply chain management, the Group plans to expand its 
product offerings to meet the demands of students of different ages. The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries 
incorporated in Qingyuan city, PRC have commenced this business in the second half of the year ended 31 August 
2022.

Our strategy is to build up a supply chain network of trustworthy suppliers that is able to provide high-quality school-
related products at the best price. To focus our resources on achieving this we shifted our business model for sales 
of certain products from retail, i.e. sales to each individual student, to wholesale, i.e. bulk sales to certain 3rd party 
business partners that have the advantage in national logistics network and product distribution ability, which will 
be responsible for distributing the products purchased from us to parents or students of different schools in the PRC 
in the year ended 31 August 2022. Our strategy is starting to pay off and we have seen a stable growth of revenue 
from the supply chain business during the current year. Please refer to “FINANCIAL REVIEW – Financial Review of the 
Remaining Business” for further details.

(3) Spin-off the High-school Portion as a Separate School Entity
The Company, along with its PRC legal advisors as well as relevant local government authorities, have been actively 
exploring the feasibility of spinning-off the high school portion from the schools under the Affected Entities. The 
current ultimate equity holders of the Affected Entities intend to establish a new entity to become the investment 
holding company of the spun-off high school entity, and the Company could resume its control over such high 
school entity via contractual arrangements with the new investment holding company, subject to compliance with 
the applicable laws and regulations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As stipulated in Article No. 53 of the Law of the PRC for Promoting Private Education (amended on 29 December 
2018) (中華人民共和國民辦教育促進法（2018年12月29日修正）), “the spin-off or merger of private schools, should 
be after the financial liquidation, submitted by the council or the board of the school to the relevant government 
authorities for approval.” The Company and its PRC legal advisers are currently engaged in discussions with several 
accounting firms and seeking guidance from relevant local authorities regarding the financial liquidation audit for 
the purpose of spin-off of the high school portion.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Profit for the year ended 31 August 2022 of the Group amounted to RMB96.2 million (loss for the year ended 31 August 
2021: RMB2,278.6 million), which is all from Remaining Business (loss from Remaining Business for the year ended 31 
August 2021: RMB222.1 million and loss from Affected Entities for the year ended 31 August 2021: RMB2,056.5 million). 
The financial results of the Affected Entities have ceased to be consolidated in the Group as of 31 August 2021 and 
therefore, there is nil profit/loss from Affected Entities for the current year. The Company sets out the financial review of 
the Remaining Business as below:

Financial Review of the Remaining Business

Revenue
During the year ended 31 August 2022, revenue of the Remaining Business was all from ancillary services (revenue 
from ancillary services during the year ended 31 August 2021: RMB216.8 million and revenue of management service 
fees during the year ended 31 August 2021: RMB2.8 million). Ancillary services revenue consists of (i) comprehensive 
educational services, which mainly include provision of extracurricular activities and after-school care programs, school 
buses service, social practice, summer and winter camps; and (ii) school-related supply chain, which mainly includes sales 
of daily necessities and other educational materials. A further analysis of our revenue by each service line is presented as 
follows:

For the year ended 31 August

2022 % of Total 2021 % of Total
By Service lines RMB’000 RMB’000

School-related supply chain 154,431 55.6 128,081 58.3
Comprehensive educational services 123,156 44.4 88,754 40.4
Management service fees — — 2,831 1.3

Total revenue 277,587 100.0 219,666 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

School-related supply chain remains as the biggest source of revenue during the current year. As mentioned in the section 
headed “Business Review”, we launched a new wholesale business model such that we could focus on building up our 
own supply chain network. Sales to the biggest customer amounted to RMB71.5 million during the current year and total 
revenue from the school-related supply chain business has increased by 20.6% from RMB128.1 million for the year ended 
31 August 2021 to RMB154.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2022.

In relation to the comprehensive educational services business, due to the epidemic prevention and control measures 
during the summer break, revenue from this service line has decreased significantly during the second half of the current 
year as compared with the first half of the current year. However, we believe that the impact of the COVID-19 restrictions 
to our business is only temporary. As a result of the significant increase of various after-school activities we organized 
during the winter break of the current year, we were still able to achieve an increase in revenue of RMB34.4 million or 
38.8% for the year ended 31 August 2022 as compared with the prior year.

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s revenue increased by RMB57.9 million, or 26.4%, from RMB219.7 million for 
the year ended 31 August 2021 to RMB277.6 million for the year ended 31 August 2022.

Cost of Revenue
Our cost of revenue primarily consists of (i) staff costs, which primarily consist of salaries and other benefits for our service 
staff, (ii) costs to other third party service suppliers in cooperation, and (iii) cost of material for the supply chain business.

Cost of revenue increased by RMB45.1 million, or 57.9%, from RMB78.0 million for the year ended 31 August 2021 to 
RMB123.1 million for the year ended 31 August 2022 which was primarily due to the increases in revenue.

Gross Profit
As a result of the foregoing, gross profit increase by 9.0% from 141.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2021 to 
RMB154.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2022. Our gross profit margin decreased from 64.5% for the year ended 
31 August 2021 to 55.6% for the year ended 31 August 2022 is mainly due to the decrease of gross profit margin for 
the comprehensive educational services business owing to management’s efforts in promoting and enhancing the quality 
of the after-school activities we organized.

Other Income
Other income mainly includes amortised income of financial guarantee contracts and government grants, which 
represents subsidies granted by certain local governments for encouraging domestic business development and 
unconditional subsidies for the purpose of giving financial support to the Group’s operations. There are no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies relating to the above subsidies.

The increase of other income is mainly due to the amortised income of financial guarantee contracts of RMB21.2 million 
for the year ended 31 August 2022 (2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Other Gains and Losses
Other gains and losses primarily consist of (i) expected credit loss for financial guarantee contracts of RMB26.4 million 
and (ii) net exchange losses of RMB12.3 million resulting from the appreciation of Hong Kong dollars (HK$) against RMB 
during the year ended 31 August 2022 due to the borrowings denominated in HK$.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) salaries and other benefits for general and administrative staff, (ii) travel 
expenses, (iii) entertainment expenses, and (iv) other expenses, which mainly consist of repair and maintenance expenses, 
utilities, legal and professional fees, cleaning expenses, and other administrative expenses.

Administrative expenses decreased by 21.8% from RMB53.5 million for the year ended 31 August 2021 to RMB41.9 
million for the year ended 31 August 2022, primarily due to management’s efforts in cost control.

Finance Income
Finance income primarily consists of interest income from bank deposits and investments in debt securities.

Finance income increased from RMB8.2 million for the year ended 31 August 2021 to RMB16.6 million for the year ended 
31 August 2022.

Finance Costs
Finance costs consist of the interest expenses for our bank borrowings and interest on lease liabilities.

Finance costs increased from RMB1.5 million for the year ended 31 August 2021 to RMB8.5 million for the year ended 31 
August 2022.

Profit before Taxation
As a result of the foregoing, profit before taxation amounted to RMB122.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2022.

Taxation
Income tax expense of the Group decreased by 58.7% from RMB63.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2021 to 
RMB26.2 million for the year ended 31 August 2022, which was primarily due to the income tax expense incurred on the 
management fee income received from the Affected Entities during the year ended 31 August 2021 (such management 
fee income of the Remaining Business had been eliminated against the expenses of the Affected Entities during the year 
ended 31 August 2021), and there was no such management fee income since 1 September 2021 after the effective of 
the Implementation Regulations.

Profit for the Year from Remaining Business
As a result of the above factors, profit for the year of the Group from the Remaining Business amounted to RMB96.2 
million for the year ended 31 August 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Core Net Profit from Remaining Business
The Group defines its core net profit from Remaining Business as its profit for the year from Remaining Business after 
adjusting for those items which are not indicative of the Group’s operating performance as presented in the table below. 
This is not an IFRS measure. The Group has presented this item because the Group considers it an important supplemental 
measure of the Group’s operational performance used by the Group as well as analysts or investors. The following table 
reconciles from profit/loss for the year to core net profit from Remaining Business for the two financial years presented 
below:

For the year ended 31 August

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 96,185 (2,278,566)
Less:

Loss for the year from Affected Entities — 2,056,480

Profit/(loss) for the year from Remaining Business 96,185 (222,086)
Adjustments for:

Loss on deconsolidation of Affected Entities (Note 1) — 271,841
Change in financial guarantee contracts (Note 2) 5,132 —
Exchange loss from Remaining Business 12,299 26,569
Share-based payments 3,090 2,832

Core net profit from Remaining Business 116,706 79,156

Notes:

1. The adjustment represented recognition of financial guarantee contracts upon the deconsolidation of Affected Entities as at 31 August 2021.

2. The adjustment represented provision of expected credit loss for financial guarantee contracts of RMB26,380,000 less amortised income of financial 

guarantee contracts of RMB21,248,000. For details, please refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed 

“Contingent Liabilities”.

Core net profit from Remaining Business increased by RMB37.6 million, or 47.4%, from RMB79.2 million for the year 
ended 31 August 2021 to RMB116.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2022. Core net profit margin of Remaining 
Business increased from 36.0% for the year ended 31 August 2021 to 42.0% for the year ended 31 August 2022.

Capital Expenditure
For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group paid approximately RMB0.8 million for the acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
The Group recorded net cash inflow from operating activities of RMB27.8 million for the year ended 31 August 2022.

The Group generated net cash inflow from investing activities of RMB37.8 million for the year ended 31 August 2022, 
primarily consists of (i) cash inflow of RMB238.8 million from recovery of amounts due from Affected Entities, (ii) proceeds 
from disposal of certain investment products held for short-term cash management purpose of RMB150.4 million, which 
are partly set-off by (iii) cash outflow of RMB280.0 million for placement of pledged bank deposits for bank borrowings, 
and (iv) payment for purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) of RMB97.6 million.

The Group had net cash outflow from financing activities of RMB142.2 million which was primarily due to the repayment 
of amounts due to Affected Entities of RMB102.8 million and repayment of bank borrowings of RMB28.7 million.

As a result of the above, the Group recorded a net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of RMB76.6 million during the 
year ended 31 August 2022.

As at 31 August 2022, the Group’s total pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash amounted to RMB676.2 million, 
of which the majority were denominated in HK$ and RMB (as at 31 August 2021: RMB485.2 million).

As at 31 August 2022, the Group’s total bank borrowings amounted to RMB372.8 million comprising RMB127.6 million 
repayable within one year and RMB245.2 million repayable more than one year. The Group’s bank borrowings carried 
interest rates ranging from 1.9% to 3.1% per annum. All the bank borrowings were denominated in HKD. During the 
year ended 31 August 2022, the Group raised certain borrowings from a bank for the special dividend paid in October 
2021.

In order to have a better use of our unutilised financial resources, the Group has purchased certain investment products 
during the year ended 31 August 2021, which are classified as financial assets at FVTPL amounting to RMB28.7 million or 
investments in debt securities amounting to RMB21.2 million as at 31 August 2022. In addition, during the year ended 
31 August 2022, the Group has made an investment in a fund by utilising the unutilised balance of the net proceeds 
from the Placing completed at 18 August 2020. The investment is classified as financial assets at FVTPL amounting to 
RMB103.9 million as at 31 August 2022. For details please also refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds”.

The Group recorded net current assets of RMB402.9 million as at 31 August 2022 (as at 31 August 2021: RMB573.3 
million).

Included in the net current assets of the Group as at 31 August 2022, amounts due from Affected Entities of RMB425.8 
million (as at 31 August 2021: RMB664.6 million) and amounts due to Affected Entities of RMB105.9 million (as at 
31 August 2021: RMB208.8 million) were included in trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 
of current assets and trade and other payables and accrued expenses of current liabilities, respectively. The Group will 
continue to gradually recover/repay the amounts due from/to Affected Entities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Gearing Ratio
The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated as total bank and other borrowings divided by total equity at the end of the 
relevant year. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 August 2022 was 83.3% (as at 31 August 2021: 30.1%).

The increase in gearing ratio was mainly due to the increase of bank borrowings balance as at 31 August 2022.

Despite the increase in gearing ratio, taking into consideration the total pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash 
of RMB676.2 million, the Group does not have any net borrowings balance as at 31 August 2022 which is calculated 
as total bank borrowings, net of pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash (as at 31 August 2021: nil of net 
borrowings balance).

Foreign Exchange Exposure
The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB, the functional currency of the Company, 
except that certain income and expenditures are denominated in HK$ or United States Dollars. As at 31 August 2022, 
certain bank balances and cash, investment products and bank borrowings were denominated in HK$ or United States 
Dollars. The Group did not enter into any financial instrument for hedging purpose. The Group will continue to monitor 
the foreign exchange rate risk and consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Contingent Liabilities
Save for the financial guarantees provided to the Affected Entities in support of bank borrowings of the Affected Entities 
as disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities 
that are required to be disclosed.

Such guarantees were provided prior to the deconsolidation during which the Affected Entities remained as members 
of the Group. Subsequent to the deconsolidation and up to the date of this report, such guarantees remain in existence 
without renewal or variation of the terms thereof and the Group has not entered into any new financial guarantee 
contracts for the Affected Entities.

Under the accounting policy of the Group, management of the Group assessed each financial guarantee contract 
individually to measure the provision for expected credit loss (“ECL”) as at 31 August 2022, if any. The Group applies 
a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are specific to 
the cash flows, and primarily due to a higher credit risk for the school in Chaozhou, the PRC which has utilised certain 
amount from the banking facility for school construction and only commenced its operation since 1 September 2021, 
a total of RMB26,380,000 provision of ECL was made for financial guarantee contracts and recognised in other gains 
and losses for the year ended 31 August 2022. Partly net-off by the amortised income of financial guarantee contracts 
of RMB21,248,000 after the repayment of certain existing loan balances by the Affected Entities, the carrying amounts 
of financial guarantee contracts increased from RMB271.8 million as at 31 August 2021 to RMB277.0 million as at 31 
August 2022.

Despite the above, the provision of ECL is only a non-cash item and the Group has not incurred and also does not expect 
any material cash outflows as a result of these financial guarantee contracts based on the cash flow forecasts of the 
Affected Entities. As at 31 August 2022, the aggregate amount of outstanding financial guarantees issued to banks in 
respect of banking facilities granted to Affected Entities that the Group could be required to be paid has been reduced to 
RMB4,604.5 million from RMB5,242.5 million as at 31 August 2021 following by certain repayments of the existing loan 
balances by the Affected Entities during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 August 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings were secured by pledged bank deposits and investment in unlisted 
private funds that were recognised as financial assets at FVTPL.

MARKET REVIEW
The PRC government has constantly emphasized the importance of all-rounded development of students, and has issued 
a series of policies or guidance to ensure the due and proper implementation of such. Students and parents look for 
systematic non-curriculum activities during the after-school time and the 2-3 months of winter and summer break each 
year, therefore the Company believes that the market still has significant room to grow.

After the Implementation Regulations, the Group believes that the scale of the private schools will be reduced significantly 
in the PRC but the intention of the Implementation Regulations is not to eliminate all the private schools. The remaining 
private schools will be positioned as premium and differentiated private schools which provide a diversified and 
differentiated education option for the community.

OUTLOOK
Leveraging on the years of experience in the supply chain management, the Group will strive to grow the 
school-related supply chain business by expansion of our product offerings through the Company’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries incorporated in Qingyuan city, PRC.

In the future, the Group aims to fully integrate its resources to build an educational service platform. The specific services 
include providing online education and learning products and services, comprehensive educational management services, 
catering management, supply of student necessities and teaching equipment, decoration and design of school, employees 
training and labor outsourcing services, school property management for third-party schools etc.

Future Capital Expenditure and Financing
We will operate under an asset-light model and expect that the Group’s future capital expenditure will primarily be 
financed by cash flow generated from operating activities.

Staff Recruitment, Training and Retention
We realize the importance of our staff in provision of high quality education services. We have a well-established staff 
training system in which we train our outstanding staff to prepare for the role of management in the future. We provide 
on-going training programmes such as learning groups, project seminars and outdoor training camps for team building, 
where our staff share experiences, enhance skills and improve teamwork. We reward outstanding staff with high 
performance evaluations and require staff who do not meet our expectations to improve within a prescribed period of 
time.

Conclusion
The Group has strong execution ability and adaptability proven by its good track record of past performance results. 
Looking into the future, we will increase investments in strengthening our professional service teams, building up 
technology platform and marketing our educational services. We have confidence in continuing to create not only 
economic benefits to our shareholders, but also to create value to the students and society with our high-quality and 
diversified educational services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

REGULATORY UPDATE

The Implementation Regulations
On 14 May 2021, the PRC State Council announced the issuance of the Implementation Regulations which became 
effective on 1 September 2021. Among other things, the Implementation Regulations prohibit social organisations 
and individuals from controlling a private school that provides compulsory education by means of merger, acquisition, 
contractual arrangements and a private school providing compulsory education is prohibited from conducting transactions 
with its related parties. Compulsory education in this context means the nine years of curriculum education mandated by 
the PRC, consisting of six years of primary education and three years of secondary education.

Therefore, we assessed the implications of this new regulation on our financial statements and concluded that, based 
on all relevant facts and circumstances, the ability of the Group to use its power from the Contractual Arrangements to 
direct the relevant activities that would most significantly affect returns of the Affected Entities had ceased on 31 August 
2021, immediately before the Implementation Regulations became effective.

As at the date of this report, the national and local governments have not yet issued any specific policies regarding the 
interpretation and application of the Implementation Regulations in particular relating to the Contractual Arrangements. 
We will continue to closely monitor the development of the Implementation Regulations including the applicability of 
the Implementation Regulations and its impact on the Company, the Affected Entities, and the Group’s Contractual 
Arrangements, and will make further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
The Group had no other material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year 
ended 31 August 2022.

INVESTMENTS HELD
As at 31 August 2022, the Group held certain investment products which were classified as financial assets at FVTPL 
or investments in debt securities of approximately RMB153.8 million in aggregate. For the reasons for holding these 
investments products, please refer to the section headed “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure” above.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
As at 31 August 2022, the Group had approximately 171 employees. The Group participates in various employee benefit 
plans, including provident fund, housing, pension, medical insurance and unemployment insurance. The Company has 
also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a share option scheme and a share award scheme for its employees and 
other eligible persons. Salaries and other benefits of the Groups’ employees are generally reviewed on a regular basis in 
accordance with individual qualifications and performance, result performance of the Group and other relevant market 
conditions. The Group also provides internal and external training programs to its employees.

Total employee remuneration (including directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31 August 2022 amounted to 
approximately RMB40.8 million (for the year ended 31 August 2021: RMB816.3 million).
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USE OF PROCEEDS
On 18 August 2020, the Company completed the placing of 130,000,000 new shares at HK$4.24 per new share (the 
“Placing”) to no less than six placees, who and whose respective ultimate beneficial owners are independent of the 
Company and the connected persons of the Company. The net proceeds from the Placing were approximately HK$545.7 
million (equivalent to approximately RMB487.7 million) (“Net Placing Proceeds”). The Company intended to use the net 
proceeds from the Placing for construction and development of the Group’s schools in the PRC and general corporate 
purpose. Details of the Placing are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 11 August 2020 and 18 August 2020 
respectively.

As a result of the deconsolidation of the Group’s schools operated through the Affected Entities as of 31 August 2021, 
the Company believes that there is currently no longer an immediate need to apply any remaining net proceeds for 
construction and development of the schools in the PRC. The Company has been actively exploring various investment 
opportunities for the sake of enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of capital utilisation in order to bring value to the 
Group and its Shareholders. On 14 April 2022, the Company (as Subscriber) entered into a subscription agreement with 
GLAM-HKCFC MBS FUND (the “Fund”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to subscribe for the participating shares 
designated as Class A share of the Fund at a total subscription amount of HK$117 million (equivalent to approximately 
RMB95.1 million) (the “Subscription”), which is to be settled by utilising the remaining net proceeds. The Board believes 
the Subscription provides an opportunity to the Company to enhance return by utilising the idle cash of the Company for 
generating a stable yield. For further details of the Fund, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 14 April 
2022. The revised use of the Net Placing Proceeds is set forth below:

Intended 
use of 

Net Placing 
Proceeds

Revised
use of

Net Placing
Proceeds

Utilised
amount as at

31 August
2022

Unutilised
balance as at

31 August
2022

Expected timeline 
for full utilisation 
of the unutilised 
balance (Note)

RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million

Construction and development of schools 150.0 46.7 46.7 — Not applicable
General corporate purpose 337.7 345.9 316.1 29.8 31 August 2024
Subscription of the Fund — 95.1 95.1 — Not applicable

Total: 487.7 487.7 457.9 29.8

Note:  The expected timeline for utilising the remaining Net Placing Proceeds is based on the best estimation made by the Group and it is subject to change 

based on the current and future development of the market conditions.

Save for the aforesaid changes, there is no other change in the use of the Net Placing Proceeds. The Board will 
continuously assess the plans for the use of unutilised Net Placing Proceeds and may revise or amend such plans where 
necessary to cope with the changing market conditions and strive for better business performance for the Group.
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The biographical details of the directors (“Directors”) and senior management of the Group are set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Xuebin (劉學斌), aged 50, is a founder of our Group. He was appointed as a Director on 13 July 2010 and as 
an executive Director on 7 June 2016. He is primarily responsible for the overall formulation, supervision and guidance 
of business strategies, planning and development of our Group. Out of his commitment in social responsibilities, Mr. Liu 
founded our Group by establishing Guangdong Guangzheng with Ms. Li in October 2002 and has acted as its director 
since then. Prior to joining our Group, since June 2002, Mr. Liu has acted as the chairman of 東莞市富盈房地產開發有
限公司 (Dongguan Cinese Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.), a property developer in the PRC, in overseeing its business 
strategies, planning and development.

In addition to our Group, Mr. Liu also holds direct or indirect interests in other companies engaged in other businesses in 
the PRC, which include real estate, construction, hotel and tourism. Mr. Liu also serves as an executive director of another 
listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely, Cinese International Group Holdings Limited since 19 
July 2021.

Mr. Liu completed a graduate programme on project management from the Economics Department of Peking University 
in March 2004. Mr. Liu was awarded the World Outstanding Chinese Award (世界傑出華人獎) by United World Chinese 
Association Limited (世界華人協會) in 2007.

Ms. LI Suwen (李素文), aged 49, is the chairperson, chief executive officer of our Company and a co-founder of our 
Group. She was appointed as a Director on 13 July 2010 and as an executive Director on 7 June 2016. She is primarily 
responsible for the overall management and business development of our Group. Ms. Li founded our Group in establishing 
Guangdong Guangzheng with Mr. Liu in October 2002. Ms. Li has dedicated her career to the cause of education since 
the establishment in October 2002. She founded a number of educational institutions including Dongguan Guangming 
School (東莞市光明中學), Dongguan Guangming Primary School (東莞市光明小學), Dongguan Guangzheng Preparatory 
School (東莞市光正實驗學校), Huizhou Guangzheng Preparatory School (惠州市光正實驗學校) and Panjin Guangzheng 
Preparatory School (盤錦市光正實驗學校).

Ms. Li completed a graduate programme on project management from the Economics Department of Peking University in 
March 2004.



Annual Report 2022 19

Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. LI Jiuchang (李久常), aged 43, is the chief operating officer of our Company. He was appointed as an executive 
Director on 7 June 2016 and is primarily responsible for the overall management of the operation of our Group. Mr. Li 
has more than 15 years of experience in the educational sector. He joined Guangdong Guangzheng in September 2003 as 
a high school teacher. He has acted as the deputy general manager of Guangdong Guangzheng since September 2012, 
primarily responsible for the daily operation of the Group.

Mr. Li’s dedication to education has been well recognised. He was awarded the Dongguan Outstanding Youth Volunteer 
(東莞市優秀青年志願者) by the Communist Youth League, Dongguan branch (共青團東莞市委) and Dongguan Young 
Volunteers Association (東莞市青年志願者協會) in April 2006. He was also appointed as a core member of the Research 
Team for Project Studies under the Eleventh Five-Year Plan of the National Educational Science Programme of the MOE (全
國教育科學“十一五”教育部規劃課題研究組) and an Advanced Practitioner in Project Studies of the MOE (教育部課題研
究先進工作者).

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in history from the Shaanxi Normal University (陝西師範大學).

Mr. WANG Yongchun (王永春), aged 41, is the executive Director of our Company. He was appointed as an executive 
Director on 8 January 2018. He is also the principal of the Dongguan Guangming School. He was appointed to such 
position in September 2015 and is primarily responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Dongguan Guangming 
School.

Mr. Wang joined our Group in August 2003. Prior to the appointment to his present position in our Group, Mr. Wang 
served on various positions in our schools, including as the class teacher, grade leader, director of moral education and 
administrative officer. In particular, he acted as the vice principal of Dongguan Guangzheng Preparatory School.

In recognition of his contributions in education, Mr. Wang was recognised as an Outstanding Practitioner of Dongguan 
in the Middle School Education of Geography (東莞市優秀中學地理教育工作者) by the Geography Teaching Research 
Society of Dongguan (東莞市地理教學研究會) and an Outstanding Individual of Dongguan Schools for Communist 
Youth League Work (東莞市學校共青團工作優秀個人) by the Dongguan Committee of the Communist Youth League 
(共青團東莞市委員會) and the Dongguan Education Bureau. He was also employed as a master tutor for South China 
Normal University (華南師範大學) and Shaanxi Normal University (陝西師範大學). Mr. Wang also received various awards 
for his dissertations, including the First Prize in Dissertations on Geography Education in Middle Schools of Guangdong 
Province issued by the Geographical Society of Guangdong (廣東省地理學會) and the Middle School Geography Teaching 
Committee of the Guangdong Society of Education (廣東教育學會中學地理教學專業委員會).

Mr. Wang holds a bachelor’s degree of science from the Tourism and Environment College of Shaanxi Normal University 
(陝西師範大學旅遊與環境學院). He obtained various professional qualifications, including the qualification of First Grade 
Middle School Teacher in Geography Education (中學地理一級教師), Senior High School Teacher (高級中學教師) and 
Guangdong Province Primary and Middle School Principal (廣東省中小學校長).
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Prof. SUN Kai Lit Cliff (孫啟烈), BBS, J.P. aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 January 
2017. He is a co-founder of China South City Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 
1668), and served as its non-executive director from August 2002 to July 2017. Prof. Sun is an associate of the Institute 
of Industrial Engineers, Ohio and has over 31 years of experience in the household products manufacturing industry. 
Prof. Sun is now the chairman of Kinox Enterprises Limited and Kin Hip Metal and Plastic Factory Ltd., both of which are 
principally engaged in the manufacturing of kitchenware and other metal and plastic products. Since June 2007, he has 
also acted as an independent non-executive director of Ka Shui International Holdings Ltd., a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 0822). From July 2007 to March 2016, he also acted as an independent non-executive director of 
Ming Fai International Holdings Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3828).

Prof. Sun was appointed Adjunct Professor of City University of Hong Kong in January 2017. He was also appointed 
as Justice of the Peace by the Government of Hong Kong in July 2003, and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) 
by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administration Region in July 2006. He was a member of the 11th Zhejiang 
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (中國人民政治協商會議第十一屆浙江省委員會) 
and had served as a standing committee member of both the CPPCC Shenzhen and Ningbo committee. He was the 
chairman of ICAC Business Ethics Development Advisory Committee (廉政公署商業道德諮詢委員會主席) and is currently 
the President of Shenzhen CPPCC HK and Macau members Association (深圳市政協歷屆港澳委員聯誼會會長). Prof. 
Sun holds a number of honorary posts due to his past services in the respective organizations which include Honorary 
President of the Federation of Hong Kong industries, Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong Exporter’s Association, 
Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong Q Mark Council, and Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers Association Ltd. Prof. Sun 
also involves himself in educational institutions and served in the Vocational Training Council as council member for 6 
years until the end of 2015.

Mr. TAM King Ching Kenny (譚競正), aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 January 
2017. Mr. Tam serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee of the 
Company. He is a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada. He is a past 
president of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam was an independent non-executive director of 
CCT Fortis Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange) and GBA Holdings Limited (a company listed on 
the Stock Exchange) from December 1999 to June 2022 and from February 2016 to September 2022 respectively. Mr. 
Tam also serves as an independent non-executive director of six other listed companies on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange, namely, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Capital Industrial Financial Services Group Limited (formerly 
known as Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited), Starlite Holdings Limited, Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings 
Limited (formerly known as Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited), BeijingWest Industries International Limited and West 
China Cement Limited.
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Mr. HUANG Weiguo (黃維郭), aged 70, has over 41 years of management experience in corporate management 
and government department administration. Since 1976, Mr. Huang has held management positions and directorships 

in various companies in different business fields, including companies in home appliances industry, light industry and 
automobile industry. From December 1997 to March 2007, Mr. Huang worked in the People’s Government of Foshan 
Municipality (佛山市政府) and served as a member of the Management Committee of the Foshan National High-tech 
Development Zone (佛山市國家高新開發區管理委員會) at the same time. From 2009 to 2014, he was the director of 
Guangdong Guangye Assets Management Company Ltd (廣東省廣業集團有限公司) and was primarily responsible for 
overseeing project investment and asset management.

Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree from South China Institute of Technology and Chemical Engineering (華南理工
化工學院).

Senior Management
The executive Directors are also members of senior management of the Group.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited (the 
“Company”) present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
August 2022.

General Information
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and registered as an exempted company with limited liability under 
the Companies Law Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law”) on 13 July 2010. The principal place of 
business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Room 3302, 33/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway 
Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares (the “Shares”) were listed (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 26 January 2017 (the “Listing Date”).

Principal Activities and Subsidiaries
For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group was principally engaged in the school-related supply chain business and 
provision of comprehensive educational services to students of primary, middle and high schools and other customers in 
the People’s Republic of China (“China” or “PRC”). A list of the Company’s subsidiaries, together with their places of 
incorporation and principal activities, is set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review
A fair review of the business of the Group during the year including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance, an 
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business and events affecting the company that have occurred 
since the end of the financial year are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this 
annual report. These discussions form part of this report of Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Group
We are subject to various risks related to our business, our industry and regulatory changes. Major risks we face include, 
among others,

(i) we generate a majority of our revenue from the students of a limited number of schools operated by the Affected 
Entities and a limited number of customers in China;

(ii) our business depends on the market recognition of our brand and reputation that we may not be able to maintain;

(iii) we may fail to continue to attract and retain students who choose our services;

(iv) we may be subject to pricing pressures, reduced operating margins, loss of market share, departure of key 
employees and increased capital expenditures due to competition in the education sector;

(v) our business depends on our ability to recruit and retain qualified and committed employees;
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(vi) we may not be able to obtain all necessary approvals, licenses and permits and to make all necessary registrations 
and filings for our educational and other services in China; and

(vii) our business, operation and group structure may be affected by changes to regulatory requirements in China.

Environmental Policies and Performance
The Group realizes the importance of environmental protection in pursuing long-term sustainability. In particular, the 
Group promotes energy saving and recycling of materials in our headquarters and schools such as turning off idle 
lightings, air-conditioning and electrical appliances. The Group also encourages the use of recycled papers and both sides 
of papers for printing and copying. The Group is committed to improving environmental sustainability and will closely 
monitor the performance. Further details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report to be published separately in due course.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations
During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group was not aware of material non-compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

As disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 16 January 2017 (the “Prospectus”), we did not make full contributions 
to the social insurance plans and the housing provident fund for our employees in certain years prior to the date of the 
Prospectus. We have made full contributions to the social insurance plans for all of our employees in the PRC and to the 
housing provident fund for the majority of our employees in the PRC. We intend to make full contributions to housing 
provident fund for all of our employees in the PRC as soon as reasonably practicable.

Please refer to the section headed “Business” in the Prospectus for further details of certain historical non-compliance 
matters.

Relations with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group understands the importance of obtaining support from its employees, suppliers and customers to meet its 
corporate goals. Accordingly, the Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers.

Financial Results
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income on page 56 of this annual report.

Dividends
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for year ended 31 August 2022.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the most recent five financial years is set out in the 
section headed “Financial Summary” on page 5 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements.



Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited24

Report of Directors (Continued)

Bank Borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 August 2022 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31 August 2022 are set out in the section 
headed “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” on pages 59 to 60. The distributable reserves of the Company as 
at 31 August 2022 were RMB228.1 million.

Permitted Indemnity
In accordance with Article 164 of the Company’s articles of association (“Articles of Association”), every Director, 
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all 
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in defending any 
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers 
of the Group.

Directors
The Directors during the year ended 31 August 2022 and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Li Suwen
Mr. Liu Xuebin
Mr. Li Jiuchang
Mr. Wang Yongchun

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P.

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Huang Weiguo

In accordance with Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wang Yongchun, Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff and Mr. Huang 
Weiguo shall retire at the forthcoming AGM.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, a confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations, the Company considers that all independent 
non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ Service Contracts
Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company with effect from the Listing Date for 
an initial term of three years or until the third annual general meeting of the Company from the Listing Date (whichever is 
earlier).

Each of our independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) has entered into an appointment letter with us for an 
initial term of three years or until the third annual general meeting of the Company from the Listing Date (whichever is 
earlier) which may be terminated by either party by serving on the other party a prior written notice of not less than three 
months.

None of our Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract with any member of the Group other than contracts 
expiring or determinable by the employer within one year without the payment of compensation other than the statutory 
compensation.

Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Emoluments and Five Highest Paid Individuals
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year 
ended 31 August 2022 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. There has been no arrangement 
under which any Director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments. The remuneration of all the Directors and the 
senior management is subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their 
remuneration and compensation are appropriate, having regard to their relevant experience, duties and responsibilities, 
performance and achievement, and market rate.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts and Competing Businesses
Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements headed “Related Party Disclosure” and the section 
headed “Connected Transactions” of this annual report below, no Director had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries was a party as at 31 August 2022 or at any time during the year ended 31 August 2022.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, neither our controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) nor any of 
our Directors were interested in the business of operating private education for primary, middle and high schools, other 
than our Group or the Affected Entities, which, competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with our 
Group’s business and which requires disclosure pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules. As disclosed in the Prospectus, 
Guangdong Guangzheng is beneficially owned as to 62% and 32% by Mr. Liu Xuebin and Ms. Li Suwen, respectively.

Our controlling shareholders (being Mr. Liu Xuebin, Ms. Li Suwen, Bright Education Holdings Co. Limited and Bright 
Education Investment Co. Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)) executed the deed of non-competition 
dated 3 January 2017 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company. Pursuant to the Deed of 
Non-competition, the Controlling Shareholders have jointly and severally, unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken that 
they will not, and will use their reasonable endeavours to procure that their respective close associates will not, other than 
through their interests in the Group, directly or indirectly, carry on, engage, invest, participate or otherwise be interested 
in any business which competes or is likely to compete with any of the existing and/or future businesses carried on by any 
member of the Group in relation to the provision of primary, middle and high school educational services (the “Restricted 
Business”), other than the existing schools or school projects of the Affected Entities that were in place as at 31 August 
2021 and prior to the deconsolidation of the Affected Entities.
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Each of the Controlling Shareholders has made a declaration (the “Declaration”) as to the compliance with the terms 
of the Deed of Non-Competition for the year ended 31 August 2022 (the “Relevant Period”). In determining whether 
the Controlling Shareholders had fully complied with the Deed of Non-Competition during the Relevant Period, the INEDs 
noted that: (i) each of the Controlling Shareholders has made the Declaration; (ii) no Restricted Business was reported 
to be undertaken by the Controlling Shareholders (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, through the Group or the 
Affected Entities) during the Relevant Period; and (iii) there was no particular situation rendering the compliance with, 
and enforcement of, the Deed of Non-Competition being questionable. The INEDs were satisfied with the Controlling 
Shareholders’ compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition during the Relevant Period taking into account the 
prevailing circumstance, including the effect of the Implementation Regulations.

Contracts with Controlling Shareholders
No contract of significance has been entered into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling 
Shareholders or any of their associates during the year ended 31 August 2022.

Connected Transactions

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
We have entered into a number of continuing agreements and arrangements with our connected persons in our ordinary 
and usual course of business, which constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules prior to the 
effective of the Implementation Regulations. We set out below details of the continuing connected transactions for our 
Group.

Contractual Arrangements

Background
As disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, due to regulatory restrictions on 
foreign ownership in the schools in the PRC, we operated primary, middle and high schools in China through the Affected 
Entities. We do not hold any equity interests in the Affected Entities, which are beneficially owned by Mr. Liu as to 62% 
and Ms. Li as to 38%. Through a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) entered into 
between, among other entities, Dongguan Ruixing Business Services Co., Ltd. (東莞瑞興商務服務有限公司) (“Dongguan 
Ruixing”), the Affected Entities and shareholders of the Affected Entities, we effectively controlled these Affected Entities 
and were able to derive substantially all of their economic benefits prior to 1 September 2021, the effective date of the 
Implementation Regulations.

The Contractual Arrangements include: (a) the Exclusive Management Consultancy and Business Cooperation 
Agreement, (b) the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, (c) the Equity Pledge Agreement, (d) the Powers of Attorney, (e) 
the Loan Agreement and (f) SP Liu Spouse’s Undertaking (as such terms are defined in the section headed “Contractual 
Arrangements” in the Prospectus). Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for 
detailed terms of these documents.
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Contractual Arrangements in Place prior to the Effective of the Implementation Regulations
As disclosed in the section headed “Regulatory Update” in Management Discussion and Analysis, the Implementation 
Regulations prohibit a private school providing compulsory education conducting transactions with its related parties 
since the effective date of 1 September 2021. Prior to the effective of the Implementation Regulations, the transactions 
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements and any new transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of 
existing transactions, contracts and agreements to be entered into, among others, by any of the Affected Entities and 
any member of our Group technically constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules. In view of the Contract Arrangements, we have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has 
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with certain requirements set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, 
including, among others, the announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements, subject however to 
certain conditions, details of which are set out in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus. The 
Company has complied with the requirements of the conditions of the waiver since its Listing and until the effective of 
the Implementation Regulations.

Impact of the Implementation Regulations on the Contractual Arrangements
As of 1 September 2021, the effective date of the Implementation Regulations, the Group has ceased to control any of 
the schools of the Affected Entities through the Contractual Arrangements. In particular, this means that:

(i) Dongguan Ruixing, or any other subsidiaries in which the Company has equity shareholding, will no longer enjoy the 
right to make changes to the existing school principals, financial controllers or other senior managers of the schools 
of the Affected Entities through the Contractual Arrangements; and

(ii) Dongguan Ruixing, or any other subsidiaries in which the Company has equity shareholding, will cease to receive 
any economic benefits from the schools of the Affective Entities through the Contractual Arrangements.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, no transactions have been entered into between our Group and the Affected 
Entities through the Contractual Arrangements and Mr. Liu and Ms. Li, the ultimate equity holdings of the Affected 
Entities, have confirmed that they have not received any dividends or other distributions from the Affected Entities.

In view of the above, the INEDs were satisfied with the Company’s compliance with the relevant requirements of the 
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 August 2022 taking into account the impact of the Implementation Regulations.

Financial Guarantee
As as 31 August 2022, there were outstanding financial guarantees provided by the Group (the “Guarantees”) to the 
Affected Entities in respect of certain banking facilities granted by banks to the Affected Entities, details of which are 
disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of financial guarantee contracts of RMB277.0 
million has been recognised as a current liability as at 31 August 2022 (31 August 2021: RMB271.8 million).

The Board is of the view that after the deconsolidation on 31 August 2021, each of the Affected Entities would not be 
treated as the Company’s subsidiary for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As they are associates of Mr. Liu 
and Ms. Li, who are both Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company, the Guarantees provided by the Group 
to the Affected Entities, which had already been in existence and did not constitute continuing connected transactions 
prior to the deconsolidation, would thus subsequently become continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Such Guarantees were provided prior to the deconsolidation when the Affected Entities were still members of the Group. 
Subsequent to the deconsolidation on 31 August 2021 and during the year ended 31 August 2022, the Guarantees 
remain in existence without renewal or variation of the terms thereof. In addition, the Group has not entered into any 
new financial guarantee contracts for the Affected Entities or incurred any cash outflows as a result of the Guarantees 
during the year ended 31 August 2022. In view of the above, the INEDs were satisfied with the Company’s compliance 
with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 August 2022.

Other than the aforementioned as a result of the deconsolidation of the Affected Entities on 31 August 2021, the 
Company confirms that the related party transactions set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements 
constitute fully exempt connected transactions or did not otherwise require disclosure under the applicable requirements 
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules during the financial year ended 31 August 2022.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed for the year ended 31 August 2022.

Customers and Suppliers
Our customers primarily consist of our students and their parents or other business partners. For the year ended 31 
August 2022, our five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 43.6% of our revenue and our largest customer 
accounted for approximately 25.8% of our revenue. Our five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of our 
revenue for the year ended 31 August 2021.

Our suppliers primarily comprise food, educational services and school-related material suppliers. For the year ended 31 
August 2022, our five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 29.0% (2021: 7.3%) of our cost of 
revenue and our largest supplier accounted for approximately 10.0% (2021: 3.9%) of our cost of revenue.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close associates or shareholders (which to the 
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the share 
capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the year ended 31 August 2022.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interest and Short Positions in the Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated 
Corporation
As at 31 August 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV 
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) which (a) were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests 
and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were 
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c) 
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 
10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

Name of Director/
chief executive Capacity

Interest in
Shares

Interest in
underlying

Shares

Total
interest in

Shares and
underlying 

Shares

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Mr. Liu Xuebin
(“Mr. Liu”) (Note 1)

Interest of controlled 
corporation

930,000,000
(Note 2)

— 930,000,000 42.70%

Beneficial interest 3,498,000 — 3,498,000 0.16%
Ms. Li Suwen

(“Ms. Li”) (Note 1)
Interest of controlled 

corporation
570,000,000

(Note 3)
— 570,000,000 26.17%

Beneficial interest 3,428,000 — 3,428,000 0.16%
Mr. Li Jiuchang

(Note 5)
Beneficial interest 300,000 — 300,000 0.01%

Mr. Wang Yongchun 
(Note 5)

Beneficial interest 240,000 — 240,000 0.01%

Notes:

(1) Mr. Liu and Ms. Li are co-founders of the Group and are parties acting in concert with each other.

(2) Mr. Liu holds the entire issued capital of Bright Education (Holdings) Co. Limited (“Bright Education Holdings”), a company incorporated in the 

British Virgins Islands, and is therefore deemed to be interested in 930,000,000 Shares held by Bright Education Holdings.

(3) Ms. Li holds the entire issued capital of Bright Education Investment Co. Limited (“Bright Education Investment”), a company incorporated in the 

British Virgins Islands, and is therefore deemed to be interested in 570,000,000 Shares held by Bright Education Investment.

(4) Mr. Liu is director of Bright Education Holdings and Ms. Li is director of Bright Education Investment.

(5) Mr. Li Jiuchang and Mr. Wang Yongchun, executive Directors of the Company, were granted not more than 1,500,000 Shares and not more than 

1,200,000 Shares respectively under the share award scheme of the Company as adopted on 7 June 2017 subject to vesting conditions.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and 
Underlying Shares of the Company
As at 31 August 2022, the following persons or corporations, other than the Directors or the chief executive of the 
Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be 
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions

Name of Shareholder Capacity

Total interest
in Shares and

underlying Shares

Approximate
percentage of

interest in
the Company

Bright Education Holdings (Note 1) Beneficial interest 930,000,000 42.70%
Bright Education Investment (Note 2) Beneficial interest 570,000,000 26.17%

Notes:

(1) Bright Education Holdings is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu, and has a direct beneficial interest of 42.70% in the Company.

(2) Bright Education Investment is wholly-owned by Ms. Li and has a direct beneficial interest of 26.17% in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2022, no other person or corporation, other than the Directors or the chief 
executive of the Company, had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Remuneration Policy
As at 31 August 2022, the Group had approximately 171 employees. The Group participates in various employee benefit 
plans, including provident fund, housing, pension, medical insurance and unemployment insurance. The Company has 
also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”), share option scheme (“Share Option 
Scheme”) and share award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”) for its employees and other eligible persons. Salaries 
and other benefits of the Group’s employees are generally reviewed on a regular basis in accordance with individual 
qualifications and performance, result performance of the Group and other relevant market conditions. The Group also 
provides internal and external training programs to its employees. Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) for the 
year ended 31 August 2022 amounted to approximately RMB40.8 million (2021: RMB816.3 million).

Share Incentive Schemes
In order to provide incentives to our Directors, senior management, employees and other eligible persons for their 
contribution to the Group and to attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, we adopted the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme and Share Option Scheme on 3 January 2017.
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Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme:

(a) Purpose
The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to Eligible Participants (as defined 
in sub-paragraph (b)) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, our Company 
and to enable our Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. In determining the basis of eligibility of each 
Eligible Participant, the Board would take into account such factors as the Board may at its discretion consider 
appropriate.

(b) Who may participate
The Board may at its discretion grant options to persons who satisfy the following eligibility criteria (“Eligible 
Participant(s)”):

(i) any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive director of any member of our Group or an 
Affiliate;

(ii) any employee of any member of our Group or an Affiliate;

(iii) any customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, adviser or shareholder (including director(s) thereof) of, or 
contractor to, any member of our Group or an Affiliate;

(iv) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which 
include any director, employee, customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, adviser or shareholder of, or 
contractor to, any member of our Group or an Affiliate; or

(v) a company beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner, 
shareholder, adviser of, or contractor to, any member of our Group or an Affiliate.

(c) Maximum number of Shares available for subscription
The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme shall be such number of Shares representing 10% of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company as at 
the Listing Date (i.e. 26 January 2017), subject to adjustment.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted will be adjusted, in such manner as the 
auditors of our Company or the independent financial advisor appointed by the Board shall certify in writing to the 
Board to be fair and reasonable, in the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the Company whether by 
way of capitalization of profits or reserves, rights issue, repurchase, consolidation, redenomination, subdivision or 
reduction in the share capital of our Company provided that no such adjustment shall be made in the event of an issue 
of Shares as consideration in respect of a transaction.
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(d) Payment on grant
There is no monetary consideration for the grant of any option.

(e) Subscription price
Subject to any adjustments as described in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the subscription price in respect of 
each Share issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be 
determined by the Board at its discretion and set out in the relevant grant letter(s), provided that it shall not be less 
than the nominal value of a Share as at the date of grant (the “Subscription Price”).

(f) Lapse of options
The right to exercise an option (to the extent not already exercised) shall terminate immediately upon the earliest of:

(i) the expiry of the period commencing on the Listing Date and ending on the date immediately before the 9th 
anniversary of the Listing Date (the “Exercise Period”);

(ii) the expiry of any of the periods referred to in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme;

(iii) subject to the scheme of arrangement becoming effective, the expiry of the period referred to in the Pre-IPO 
Share Option Scheme;

(iv) subject to the compromise or arrangement referred to in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme;

(v) subject to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the date of the commencement of the winding-up of the 
Company;

(vi) in respect of an unvested option, the date on which the grantee of such unvested option ceases to be 
an Eligible Participant by reason of summary dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his 
employment or other contract constituting him an Eligible Participant, or appears either to be unable to pay 
or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any 
arrangements or composition with his creditors generally or on which he has been convicted of any criminal 
offence involving his integrity or honesty. A resolution of the Board to the effect that the employment or other 
relevant contract of a grantee has or has not been terminated on one or more of the grounds specified in this 
paragraph shall be conclusive;

(vii) the date on which the grantee commits a breach of transfer of options; or

(viii) the date on which the option is cancelled by the Board as provided in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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(g) Duration and Administration of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
Subject to the termination provisions in Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, no further options will be granted after the 
date of the Prospectus but in all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall remain in 
full force and effect to the extent necessary or desirable to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior 
thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, and 
options which are granted on or before the date of the Prospectus may continue to be exercisable in accordance 
with their terms of issue.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board whose decision as to all matters 
arising in relation to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme or its interpretation or effect (save as otherwise provided 
herein) shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties.

Subject to compliance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Board shall have the right (i) to 
interpret and construe the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; (ii) to determine the Eligible Participants 
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the number of Shares to be issued under the options; (iii) to determine 
the subscription price; (iv) to make such appropriate and equitable adjustments to the terms of options granted 
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as it deems necessary or desirable; and (v) to make such other appropriate 
decisions, determinations or regulations as it shall deem necessary or desirable in the administration of the Pre-IPO 
Share Option Scheme.

There were no outstanding options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at 31 August 2022 and 31 
August 2021. No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Pre-IPO Option Scheme for 
the year ended 31 August 2022.

Share Option Scheme
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(a) Purposes of the scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and reward the Eligible Persons (as defined in 
sub-paragraph (b) below) for their contribution to the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company 
so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the Company.

(b) Who may participate
The Board may at its discretion grant options to persons who satisfy the following eligibility criteria (“Eligible 
Person(s)”):

(i) any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive director of any member of our Group or an entity 
in which our Group holds an interest (“Affiliate”);

(ii) any employee of any member of our Group or an Affiliate;

(iii) any customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, adviser or shareholder (including director(s) thereof) of, or 
contractor to, any member of our Group or an Affiliate;
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(iv) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which 
include any director, employee, customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, adviser or shareholder of, or 
contractor to, any member of our Group or an Affiliate; or

(v) a company beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner, 
shareholder, adviser of, or contractor to, any member of our Group or an Affiliate.

(c) Maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option 
Scheme and any other share option schemes (including but not limited to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the 
“Other Schemes”) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as 
at the Listing Date i.e. 200,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance with the 
terms of the Share Option Scheme and any Other Scheme of the Company will not be counted for the purpose of 
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Board may, with the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting, refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit 
provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted under 
the Share Option Scheme and any Other Schemes of the Company under the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed 
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of on which the Shareholders approve the refreshment of 
the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any Other Schemes of 
the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant scheme, 
or exercised options) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit as “refreshed”.

The Board may, with the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and subject to the limit set out in the 
immediately following paragraph, grant options to any Eligible Person(s) specifically identified by them which would 
cause the Scheme Mandate Limit to be exceeded. The Company shall send to the Shareholders a circular containing 
the information required under the Listing Rules for the purpose of seeking the approval of the Shareholders.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and not 
yet exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any Other Schemes of the Company to Eligible Persons must not 
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted shall be adjusted, in such manner as 
the auditors of the Company or independent financial advisor appointed by the Board shall certify in writing to the 
Board to be fair and reasonable, in the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the Company whether by 
way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, rights issue, repurchase, consolidation, redenomination, subdivision or 
reduction of the share capital of the Company provided that no such adjustment shall be made in the event of an issue 
of Shares as consideration in respect of a transaction.
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(d) Maximum entitlement of each individual
No options shall be granted to any Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme and any Other Schemes of the 
Company which, if exercised, would result in such Eligible Person becoming entitled to subscribe for such number 
of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number of Shares already issued or to be issued to him under all 
options granted to him (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and 
including the date of offer of such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date. Any further grant of 
options to an Eligible Person in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders in general 
meeting with such Eligible Person and his associates abstaining from voting. The Company must send a circular 
to the Shareholders disclosing the identity of the Eligible Person in question, the number and terms of the options 
to be granted (and options previously granted to such Eligible Person) and such other information required under 
the Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise price) of the options to be granted to such Eligible 
Person must be fixed before the Shareholder’ approval and the date of the Board meeting approving such further 
grant shall be taken as the date of offer for the purpose of determining the exercise price of the options.

(e) Time of vesting and exercise of options
Any option shall be vested on an option-holder immediately upon his acceptance of the offer of options provided 
that if any vesting schedule and/or conditions are specified in the offer of the option, such option shall only be 
vested on an option-holder according to such vesting schedule and/or upon the fulfilment of the vesting conditions 
(as the case may be). Subject to the restrictions set out in the Share Option Scheme, any vested option which has 
not lapsed and which conditions have been satisfied or waived by the Board in its sole discretion may, unless the 
Board determines otherwise in its absolute discretion, be exercised at any time from the next business day after the 
offer of options has been accepted. Subject to the provisions in the Share Option Scheme, any option which remain 
unexercised shall lapse upon the expiry of the option period, which period shall be determined by the Board and 
shall not exceed ten years from the offer date of the option (the “Option Period”).

An option shall be subject to such terms and conditions (if any) as may be determined by the Board and specified 
in the offer of the option, including any vesting schedule and/or conditions, any minimum period for which any 
option must be held before it can be exercised and/or any performance target which need to be achieved by an 
option-holder before the option can be exercised. Such terms and conditions determined by the Board must not be 
contrary to the purpose of the Share Option Scheme and must be consistent with such guidelines (if any) as may be 
approved from time to time by the Shareholders.

If an option-holder is transferred to work in the PRC or another country and still continues to hold a salaried office 
or employment under a contract with a member of the Group or associated companies of the Company, and as 
a result of that transfer, he either (i) suffers a tax disadvantage in relation to his options (this being shown to the 
satisfaction of the Board); or (ii) becomes subject to restrictions on his ability to exercise his options or to hold or deal 
in the Shares or the proceeds of the sale of the Shares acquired on exercise because of the security laws or exchange 
control laws of the PRC or the country to which he is transferred, then the Board may allow him to exercise his 
options, vested or unvested, during the period starting three months before and ending three months after the 
transfer takes place.
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No option may be exercised in circumstances where such exercise would, in the opinion of the Board, be in breach 
of a statutory or regulatory requirement.

An option-holder may exercise any or all of his options by notice of exercise in writing in such form as the Board may 
from time to time require delivered to the Chairman (or a person designated by him with the approval of the Board). 
The notice of exercise of the option must be completed, signed by the option-holder or by his appointed agent, and 
must be accompanied by the:

(i) relevant option certificate; and

(ii) correct payment in full in cleared funds of the total option price for the number of Shares being acquired.

(f) Acceptance of an offer of options
An offer of options shall be open for acceptance in writing or by facsimile transmission or (if the Board agree) by 
electronic communication received by the Chairman (or a person designated by him with the approval of the Board) 
for such period (not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the date of offer) as the Board may determine and 
notify to the Eligible Person concerned provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry 
of the duration of the Share Option Scheme. An offer of options not accepted within this period shall lapse. An 
amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the grant of an option and such payment shall not be refundable 
and shall not be deemed to be a part payment of the exercise price. The Company shall issue option certificates to 
any Eligible Person who has accepted an offer under the common seal of the Company (or the securities seal of the 
Company) within seven days after the end of the period for acceptance of the offer.

(g) Exercise price
Subject to any adjustment made as described in the Share Option Scheme, the exercise price shall be such price 
as determined by the Board and notified to an option-holder and which shall not be less than the higher of: (i) 
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer of the 
option; (ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for 
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

(h) Duration of Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date, after 
which period no further options will be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full 
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto which are 
at that time or become thereafter capable of exercise under the Share Option Scheme, or otherwise to the extent as 
may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

There were no outstanding options granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 August 2022 and 31 August 
2021. No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme for the year 
ended 31 August 2022.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 
197,000,000 shares, representing approximately 9.04% of the total issued share capital of the Company.
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Share Award Scheme
On 7 June 2017, the Company adopted the Share Award Scheme as a means to recognise the contribution of, and 
provide incentives, for the key management personnel including Directors and senior management and employees of the 
Group. The shares (“Award Shares”) to be awarded under the Scheme will be purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) 
from the open market or subscribed from the Company as new Award Shares out of cash contributed by the Group and 
be held on trust for the selected participants until such Award Shares are vested with the relevant selected participants in 
accordance with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme. The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to administration 
of the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the Share Award Scheme rules and the trust deed dated 7 June 2017.

As at 31 August 2022, the Trustee has purchased a total of 11,704,000 Shares (31 August 2021: 11,704,000 Shares) on 
the Stock Exchange. On 6 September 2018, the Board resolved to grant a total of not more than 8,400,000 Awarded 
Shares to 12 Selected Participants. The Awarded Shares represent approximately 0.4% of the total issued shares of 
the Company as at the date of this report. Subject to the acceptance of grant of the Awarded Shares by the Selected 
Participants and the terms and conditions of the Scheme, the Awarded Shares will be vested in full in ten years according 
to the respective vesting schedule for the grant. Save for Mr. LI Jiuchang and Mr. WANG Yongchun, being executive 
Directors, who has been granted not more than 1,500,000 Awarded Shares and not more than 1,200,000 Awarded 
Shares, respectively, none of the Selected Participants is a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the 
Company, nor an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the 
Company.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities
During the year ended 31 August 2022, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any 
listed securities of the Company.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code for dealings in securities of the Company by the 
Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all the Directors, they have confirmed that they have complied with the Model 
Code during the year ended 31 August 2022.

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors 
confirm that the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 
August 2022.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands or under the Company’s Articles of 
Association that require the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

Charitable Donations
The Group has not made any charitable donations during the year ended 31 August 2022 (year ended 31 August 2021: 
RMB3.2 million).
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Tax Relief and Exemption
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Company’s securities.

Litigation
The Group did not have any material litigation outstanding as at 31 August 2022.

Continuing Disclosure Pursuant to Listing Rules
Save for the financial guarantees provided by the Group to the Affected Entities as at 31 August 2022 in respect of 
certain banking facilities granted by banks to the Affected Entities, details of which are disclosed in note 27 to the 
consolidated financial statements, the Company did not have any disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 
13.22 of the Listing Rules as at 31 August 2022.

Changes in Information of Directors
Save as disclosed in Directors and Senior Management, there were no changes to information which is required to be 
disclosed and had been disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing 
Rules.

Events after the Reporting Period
As at the date of this report, the Group had no significant events after the reporting period that are required to be 
disclosed.

Audit Committee
The audit committee (“Audit Committee”) has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 August 2022 and has met with the independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”). 
The Audit Committee has also discussed matters with respect to the accounting policies and practices adopted by the 
Company and internal control with senior management members of the Company.

Auditors
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 have been audited by Deloitte. A resolution for 
the re-appointment of Deloitte as the Company’s auditors is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited

Li Suwen
Chairperson

Dongguan, 30 November 2022
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited 
(the “Company”) are pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s annual report for the year 
ended 31 August 2022.

Corporate Governance Code
The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate 
governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders 
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) since 26 January 2017 (the “Listing Date”). During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Company has 
applied the principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) 
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) 
and has complied with all the applicable code provisions, save and except for code provision C.2.1 which stipulates that 
the roles of chairman and chief executive (“CEO”) should not be performed by the same individual. Please refer to the 
section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” for details.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG 
Code and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of the Company.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own securities dealing 
code to regulate all dealings by Directors and relevant employees of securities in the Company and other matters covered 
by the Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have confirmed that they have complied with the Model 
Code during the year ended 31 August 2022, and up to the date of this report.
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Board of Directors
The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of four executive Directors and three independent 
non-executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 August 2022 and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Li Suwen, Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Liu Xuebin 
Mr. Li Jiuchang
Mr. Wang Yongchun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P.

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Huang Weiguo

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in 
this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should not be performed 
by the same individual.

Ms. Li Suwen was appointed as the chairperson of the Board (“Chairperson”) following the step down of Mr. Liu 
Xuebin from the position of chairman of the Board on 28 September 2018. Ms. Li Suwen performs the dual roles of 
both Chairperson and CEO. The Board believes that it is in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders for Ms. Li 
Suwen to assume the responsibilities of such positions, given that Ms. Li Suwen is one of the co-founders of the Group 
and has extensive experience in the operation and management of the Group as an executive Director and CEO. The 
Board also considers that such arrangement will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and 
the management as the Board comprises six other experienced individuals including three other executive Directors and 
three independent non-executive Directors. In addition, for major decisions of the Group, the Company will consult Board 
committees and senior management as and when appropriate. The Board will review such arrangement from time to 
time and will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance practices of the Company for the purpose of 
maintaining high corporate governance standards.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings
For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Board convened four Board meetings and one annual general meeting. A 
summary of the attendance record of the Directors is set out in the following table below:

Name of Director

Attendance/
Number of

Board meetings

Attendance/
Number of

General Meetings

Executive Directors
Ms. Li Suwen 4/4 1/1
Mr. Liu Xuebin 4/4 1/1
Mr. Li Jiuchang 4/4 1/1
Mr. Wang Yongchun 3/4 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. 4/4 1/1
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny 4/4 1/1
Mr. Huang Weiguo 4/4 1/1

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Board has met at least four times in each financial year at approximately 
quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors 
without the presence of executive Directors for the year ended 31 August 2022.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent 
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director a written annual confirmation in respect of his 
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such 
confirmation, the Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election
All Directors have been appointed for a term of three years. Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation once 
every three years in accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”). The Articles 
of Association requires that at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being 
(or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall 
retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject 
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to 
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and Management
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic 
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and 
supervising its affairs. The Board takes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board 
for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company as well as the services and advice from the 
company secretary and senior management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the 
contribution required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and 
risk management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, 
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to 
implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the Company 
are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and 
development of the Group.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group and full awareness of 
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

In accordance with C.1.4 of the CG Code with regards to continuous professional development, Directors should 
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to 
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant 
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 August 2022, the key methods of attaining continuous professional development by each of 
the Directors are summarized as follows:

Name of Director
Attending courses/

seminars/conferences
Reading books/
journals/articles

Ms. Li Suwen ✓ ✓

Mr. Liu Xuebin ✓ ✓

Mr. Li Jiuchang ✓ ✓

Mr. Wang Yongchun ✓ ✓

Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. ✓ ✓

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ✓ ✓

Mr. Huang Weiguo ✓ ✓

Corporate Governance
The Board is also responsible for the development and review of the policies and practices on corporate governance, 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and corporate governance disclosure.

Board Committees
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees was 
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the 
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are independent non-executive Directors.
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Audit Committee
The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance 
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to 
assist the Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control 
procedures and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and 
responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Tam King Ching 
Kenny, Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. and Mr. Huang Weiguo, all being independent non-executive Directors of the 
Company. Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Audit Committee held three meetings. The attendance record of the meetings is 
set out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member
Attendance/

Number of meetings

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny 2/2
Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. 2/2
Mr. Huang Weiguo 2/2

During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the interim results and report for six months ended 28 February 
2022 and the annual results and report for the year ended 31 August 2022, significant issues on the financial reporting 
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management systems, scope of work and appointment of external 
auditors.

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Audit Committee also met with the external auditors without the presence of 
the executive Directors.

An explanation of the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the longer term and the strategy 
for delivering the Company’s objective is included in the Chairperson’s Statement and the Management Discussion and 
Analysis sections in this report.

Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference 
in compliance with paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but 
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to our Directors on our policy and structure for remunerations of all 
our Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
policies on such remuneration; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on the specific remuneration packages of our 
Directors and senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by reference to 
corporate goals and objectives resolved by our Directors from time to time. The Remuneration Committee comprises 
three members, namely, Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Huang Weiguo (an 
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Liu Xuebin (an executive Director). Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. is the 
chairman of Remuneration Committee.
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For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The attendance record of the 
meeting is set out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member
Attendance/

Number of meeting

Prof. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, BBS, J.P. 1/1
Mr. Huang Weiguo 1/1
Mr. Liu Xuebin 1/1

During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the 
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior 
management and other related matters of the Company.

The total remuneration paid/payable to the senior management (including all executive Directors) by band expressed in 
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) is set out below:

Number of senior management

For the year ended For the year ended
Band 31 August 2022 31 August 2021

Nil to HK$1,000,000 — 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 3 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 2
Over HK$3,000,000 — 1

Nomination Committee
The Company has established a nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference 
in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make 
recommendations to our Directors on all new appointments of Directors and senior management, review the structure, 
size and composition of the Board, assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors, interviewing 
nominees, to take up references and to consider related matters. The nomination committee comprises three members, 
namely, Mr. Huang Weiguo (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (an independent 
non-executive Director) and Ms. Li Suwen (an executive Director). Mr. Huang Weiguo is the chairman of the Nomination 
Committee.
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For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The attendance record of the meeting is 
set out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member
Attendance/

Number of meeting

Mr. Huang Weiguo 1/1
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny 1/1
Ms. Li Suwen 1/1

During the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board.

Policy on Director Nomination
In light of article 83 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to 
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed 
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election 
at that meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the 
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and the Companies Law, upon the resolutions proposed by 
a majority of the Directors, the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a 
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next 
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Nomination Committee invites 
nominations of candidates from members of the Board and may also put forward other candidates when vacancies 
on the Board exist. Before making recommendations to the Board, the Nomination Committee reviews and assesses 
the suitability of candidates for directorship, according to certain assessment criteria, including but not limited to 
reputation for integrity, experience in the relevant industry, contributions to the Board and time commitments, and by 
making reference to the board diversity policy, the Company’s needs and the current composition of the Board. The 
Board will also consider the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors before making appointments or 
recommendations. The Board may consider engaging an external recruitment agency to carry out the recruitment and 
selection process when necessary.



Annual Report 2022 47

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Dividend Policy
Subject to the Companies Law, the Company in general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any currency 
to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any reserve set aside 
from profits which the Directors determine is no longer needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends 
may also be declared and paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account which can be authorised for 
this purpose in accordance with the Companies Law.

Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide: (a) all dividends shall 
be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the shares in respect of which the dividend is paid, but no 
amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of the Articles of Association as paid up 
on the share; and (b) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the shares 
during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) was adopted by the Company. The Policy aims to set out the approach to 
diversity on the Board and achieve a sustainable and balanced development.

The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as essential to supporting attainment of its strategic objectives 
and to achieve sustainable and balanced development. According to the Policy, in designing the Board’s composition, 
Board diversity has been considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board 
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard 
to the diversity of the Board. The Board should have a balance of skills and experience and a diversity of perspectives 
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of 
having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the monitoring and review of the Policy annually. During the period from 
the Listing Date to the date of this report, the Nomination Committee was satisfied with the diversity of the existing 
Board and did not, for the time being, set up any measurable objective regarding the diversity of the Board.

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 August 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 52 to 55 in this annual report.



Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited48

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Auditors’ Remuneration
The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor for the year ended 31 August 2022. For 
the year ended 31 August 2022, the total fees paid/payable, excluding disbursements, in respect of audit and non-audit 
services provided by the Group’s independent auditor are set out below:

Items of auditors’ services Amount
RMB’000

Audit service:
Annual audit service 1,200

Non-audit services:
Other services 677

Total 1,877

Internal Control and Risk Management
The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
and for reviewing their effectiveness. It should be noted that such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. The Company has an internal audit and control department which carries out the analysis 
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control 
systems and reports to the Board.

During the financial year ended 31 August 2022, the Board has conducted its regular and annual review of the 
effectiveness of our risk management and internal control systems, in particular, the operational and financial reports, 
compliance control and risk management reports, budgets and business plans provided by the management. The Audit 
Committee also performs regular review of the Group’s performance, risk management and internal control systems 
and discusses with the Board, in order to ensure effective measures are in place to protect material assets and identify 
business risks of the Group. Such review during the financial year ended 31 August 2022 did not reveal any major issues 
and the Board considers the risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate. The Group’s review 
procedures involved in the risk management and internal control mainly included:

(1) A list of risks was created after the scope of risks was determined and risks were identified.

(2) The impacts brought by possible financial losses due to risks with regards to operating efficiency, continuous 
development, and reputation were assessed with reference to possible occurrence of various potential risks and the 
attention drawn from the management of the Group, based on which the priority of the risks was determined.
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(3) Risk management measures with respect to material risks were identified, internal control over the design and 
implementation of risk management measures were assessed, and measures to improve the weaknesses were 
formulated.

(4) By assessing internal controls and management’s implementation of rectification measures with respect to material 
risks, the Group regularly reviewed and summarized the risk management and internal control systems to realize the 
efficient operation and constant improvement of risk management.

(5) The risk management handbook was formulated to address risk management and internal control, pursuant to 
which, the terms of reference of the management, the Board, and the Audit Committee with respect to their risk 
management work were clearly determined, and risk management and internal control systems were monitored on 
an ongoing basis.

(6) The management submitted reports to the Audit Committee for regular reviews and assessment results with respect 
to risk management and internal control systems, material risk factors, and the relevant countermeasures.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group 
has internal policy and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside information and has communicated to 
all staff; the Board is aware of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance with the Listing Rules and 
conducts the affairs with reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and 
Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson 
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

Company Secretary
Mr. Zhang Xian (“Mr. Zhang”) who possesses the requisite qualification and experience of a company secretary as 
required under rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, has been the company secretary of the Company since 28 February 2022. 
Mr. Zhang has received not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his knowledge and skills.

Shareholders’ Rights
To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at 
general meetings, including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be 
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) and Putting Forward Proposals at EGM
Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM.

General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or more members deposited at the 
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the 
registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists 
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which 
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting 
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of 
the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as 
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after 
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the requisitionists, their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to 
convene an EGM, the agenda proposed to be included and the details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in 
the EGM and signed by the requisitionists.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company 
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 3302, 33/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong 
 (For the attention of Investor Relations Director)
Fax: (852) 3899 3522
Email: ir@wisdomeducationintl.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice 
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address, and provide their full name, contact details and 
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investors
The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and 
investor understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company endeavors to maintain an 
ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings. The 
Chairman of the Board, the chairmen of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee or, in their 
absence, other members of the respective committees, will make themselves available at the annual general meetings to 
meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries. Accordingly, the Board considers that the shareholder’s communication 
policy is implemented effectively during the year ended 31 August 2022.

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association during the year ended 31 August 2022. An 
up-to-date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock 
Exchange’s website.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
WISDOM EDUCATION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
光正教育國際控股有限公司
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 56 to 152, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 August 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 August 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

The Group recognised revenue of RMB277,587,000 
during the year ended 31 August 2022, representing 
income from school-related supply chain business and 
comprehensive educational services less returns and sales 
related tax.

The Group provide different kinds of services and sales of 
goods to its customers, including school-related supply 
chain business, e.g. sales of daily necessities, school 
uniforms, bedding products, stationery products and 
other educational materials, and provision of school buses 
services; and comprehensive educational services, e.g 
provision of extracurricular activities program, study tours, 
summer/winter camps, sports and arts group activities, 
post-activity review and assessment and after-school care 
activities.

We identified revenue as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of the amount to the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, it is one of the key performance 
indicators of the Group, combined with the volume of 
transactions recognised in current year.

Details of the Group’s accounting policies on revenue 
recognition and details of revenue recognised during the 
year are included in notes 3 and 5 to the consolidated 
financial statements, respectively.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition 
included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over 
the revenue recognition process;

• Understanding the revenue recognition policies of 
the Group and evaluating whether the identification 
of performance obligations, when a performance 
obligation is satisfied, measurement of progress 
towards complete satisfaction of a performance 
obligation, principal versus agents in each distinct 
performance obligation are in accordance with IFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (the “IFRS 
15”);

• Checking, on a sample basis, revenue are recognised 
in accordance with IFRS 15 with reference to 
supporting evidence to determine whether the 
services are being provided or goods have been 
delivered;

• Performing trend analysis on recorded revenue; and

• Test disclosures of revenue to confirm they have been 
disclosed in accordance with IFRS 15.

Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Lau Kai Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 November 2022
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Remaining
Business*

Affected
Entities*

2022 2021 2021 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Revenue 5 277,587 219,666 2,044,081 2,263,747
Cost of revenue (123,149) (78,003) (1,180,790) (1,258,793)      

Gross profit 154,438 141,663 863,291 1,004,954
Other income 6 32,988 6,726 17,648 24,374
Other gains and losses 7 (31,307) 15,695 25,591 41,286
Selling expenses — (4,085) (23,320) (27,405)
Administrative expenses (41,868) (53,511) (235,038) (288,549)
Finance income 8 16,640 8,178 1,698 9,876
Finance costs 9 (8,509) (1,485) (85,948) (87,433)
Loss on deconsolidation of

Affected Entities 11 — (271,841) (2,627,428) (2,899,269)      

Profit (loss) before taxation 122,382 (158,660) (2,063,506) (2,222,166)
Taxation 10 (26,197) (63,426) 7,026 (56,400)      

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive 
income (expense) for the year 12 96,185 (222,086) (2,056,480) (2,278,566)      

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 96,185 (2,119,748)
Non-controlling interests — (158,818)      

96,185 (2,278,566)      

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic (RMB) 15 0.04 (0.98)      

Diluted (RMB) 15 0.04 (0.98)      

* Affected Entities and Remaining Business are defined in note 1. The profit or loss of Affected Entities and Remaining Business are additional 

information that the directors of the Company consider useful and necessary to better understand the Group’s results. Details of how these have 

been arrived at are shown in note 1.
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2022 2021
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 16 1,671 2,215
Right-of-use assets 17 2,164 5,409
Pledged bank deposits 21 285,845 —
Deferred tax assets 28 303 —    

289,983 7,624    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories — goods for sale 4,129 —
Trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 18 531,405 710,942
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 19 132,632 73,254
Investments in debt securities 20 21,197 128,513
Pledged bank deposits 21 61,638 82,995
Bank balances and cash 22 328,744 402,189    

1,079,745 1,397,893    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities 23 14,020 18,051
Trade and other payables and accrued expenses 24 191,076 272,175
Income tax payable 64,914 85,067
Lease liabilities 25 2,243 3,234
Borrowings 26 127,573 174,258
Financial guarantee contracts 27 276,973 271,841    

676,799 824,626    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 402,946 573,267    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 692,929 580,891    
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2022 2021
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 29 19,263 19,263
Reserves 428,428 559,385    

447,691 578,648    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 25 — 2,243
Borrowings 26 245,238 —    

245,238 2,243    

692,929 580,891    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 152 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 30 November 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

  
Liu Xuebin Li Suwen
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 August 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

Merger
reserve

Share
options
reserve

Discretionary
special

reserve

Statutory
surplus
reserve

Shares held
 for share

award
scheme
reserve

Accumulated
profits Sub-total

Non- 
controlling

interests Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

  (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)             

At 1 September 2020 19,255 722,497 119,875 83,400 811 659,200 319,362 (29,955) 1,066,081 2,960,526 128,727 3,089,253             

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year — — — — — — — — (2,119,748) (2,119,748) (158,818) (2,278,566)             

Transfer — — — — — 417,458 79,716 — (497,174) — — —
Recognition of share-based payment 

expenses (note 30) — — — — — — — 2,832 — 2,832 — 2,832
Share vested under share award scheme — — — — — — — (141) 141 — — —
Exercise of share options (note 30) 8 2,442 — — (811) — — — — 1,639 — 1,639
Dividend recognised as distribution — (266,601) — — — — — — — (266,601) — (266,601)
Capital contribution from 

a non-controlling shareholder — — — — — — — — — — 2,427 2,427
Non-controlling interests arising 

from acquisitions (note 34) — — — — — — — — — — 27,664 27,664
Loss of control over Affected Entities (note 11) — — (119,875) (83,400) — (1,076,658) (391,612) — 1,671,545 — — —             

At 31 August 2021 19,263 458,338 — — — — 7,466 (27,264) 120,845 578,648 — 578,648             

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year — — — — — — — — 96,185 96,185 — 96,185             

Transfer — — — — — — 1,020 — (1,020) — — —
Recognition of share-based payment 

expenses (note 30) — — — — — — — 3,090 — 3,090 — 3,090
Share vested under share award scheme — — — — — — — (141) 141 — — —
Dividend recognised as distribution (note 14) — (230,232) — — — — — — — (230,232) — (230,232)             

At 31 August 2022 19,263 228,106 — — — — 8,486 (24,315) 216,151 447,691 — 447,691             
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Notes:

i. Capital reserve represents (1) the deemed contribution from equity holders of RMB85,000,000 between the consideration for the acquisition of 惠
州市光正投資有限公司 (“Huizhou Guangzheng”), a former subsidiary of the Company, and the investment in Huizhou Guangzheng by 富盈集
團有限公司 (“Cinese Group”), a company controlled by Mr. Liu Xuebin (“Mr. Liu”), executive director of the Company; and (2) the difference of 

RMB34,875,000 between the capital contribution from a former non-controlling interests of Yunfu Guangzheng Investment Co., Ltd. (雲浮市光正投
資有限公司) (“Yunfu Guangzheng”) and the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net assets of Yunfu Guangzheng.

The capital reserve was derecognised as at 31 August 2021 when the Group loss control over the Affected Entities by the end of 31 August 2021 

immediately before the Implementation Regulations of the People’s Republic of China on the Law Regarding the Promotion of Private Education (the 

“Implementation Regulations”) became effective.

ii. Discretionary special reserve represents the accumulated surplus in the school campus canteen operations specifically set aside by the Group for 

the improvement and enhancement of the services and conditions of the school campus canteens and accumulated surplus earned by not-for-

profit schools, whose school sponsors do not require reasonable returns, for the construction or maintenance of the schools or procurement or 

upgrading of educational equipment, which is non-distributable to equity holders during the school operating period. During the year ended 31 

August 2021, surplus in the school campus canteen operations and education operation of not-for-profit schools amounted to RMB178,309,000 and 

RMB239,149,000 respectively, had been transferred to the discretionary special reserve. This reserve was derecognised as at 31 August 2021 when 

the Group loss control over the Affected Entities by the end of 31 August 2021 immediately before the Implementation Regulations became effective.

iii. Pursuant to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC shall make appropriations from 

after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funds as determined by the board of directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (a) 

general reserve of the limited liabilities companies and (b) the development fund of schools.

(a) For PRC subsidiaries with limited liability, it is required to make annual appropriations to general reserve of 10% of after-tax profits as 

determined under the PRC laws and regulations at each year-end until the balance reaches 50% of the relevant PRC entity’s registered capital.

(b) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, for private school that does not require reasonable return, it is required to appropriate 

to development fund of not less than 25% of the annual increase of the net assets of the relevant schools as determined in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC. The development fund shall be used for the construction or maintenance of the schools 

or procurement or upgrading of educational equipment. The development fund of schools was derecognised as at 31 August 2021 when 

the Group loss control over the Affected Entities by the end of 31 August 2021 immediately before the Implementation Regulations became 

effective.
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2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Profit (loss) before taxation 122,382 (2,222,166)
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 8,509 87,433
Finance income (16,640) (9,876)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,314 154,497
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 3,245 56,198
Amortisation of intangible assets — 8,925
Amortised income of financial guarantee contracts (21,248) —
Loss on deconsolidation of Affected Entities — 2,899,269
Late payment interest on settlement of consideration 

payable for acquisitions of subsidiaries — 10,504
Impairment loss under expected credit loss model, net 24,499 3,883
Decrease in fair value of investment properties — 2,900
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net — 10
Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets/leases — (36,422)
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL (1,624) (42,090)
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL (5,754) (174)
Unrealised exchange loss 12,229 12,908
Share-based payment expenses 3,090 2,832   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 130,002 928,631
Increase in inventories (4,129) (589)
Increase in trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables (69,137) (41,655)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (4,031) 158,955
Increase in refund liabilities — 1,576
Increase in trade and other payables and accrued expenses 21,743 18,032   
   
Cash generated from operations 74,448 1,064,950
Income tax paid (46,653) (61,432)   

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 27,795 1,003,518   
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2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Interest received 12,829 6,619
Placement of pledged bank deposits (280,000) (87,479)
Payments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (770) (1,427,286)
Payments for right-of-use assets — (21,373)
Deposits paid for acquisition of leasehold lands — (87,515)
Payment for rental deposits — (781)
Refund of rental deposits — 4,385
Payment for purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (97,554) (625,677)
Payment for purchase of investments in debt securities — (130,850)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment — 1,985
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 39,800 956,000
Proceeds from disposal of investment in debt securities 110,561 —
Net cash outflow from loss of control of Affected Entities — (695,055)
Repayment from amounts due from Affected Entities 238,828 —
Dividends and interest received from financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss 5,754 44,687
Advances to a third party — (8,298)
Repayment of loan to a third party 8,338 —
Deposits paid for acquisition of private schools — (57,000)
Net cash outflows for acquisitions of subsidiaries — (153,730)   

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 37,786 (2,281,368)   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings 232,467 1,392,184
Repayment of bank borrowings (28,730) (332,950)
Repayments of lease liabilities (3,424) (31,582)
Repayments of amounts due to Affected Entities (102,842) —
Advances from a non-controlling shareholder — 12,900
Repayment to a third party — (43,000)
Interest paid (8,319) (164,438)
Issued costs paid — (283)
Dividend paid (231,378) (262,336)
Proceeds from exercise of share options — 1,639
Capital injection by a non-controlling shareholder — 2,427   

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (142,226) 574,561   

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (76,645) (703,289)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 402,189 1,122,778

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 3,200 (17,300)   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR, 
REPRESENTING BANK BALANCES AND CASH 328,744 402,189   
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1. General Information
Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands on 13 July 2010 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its parent is Bright Education (Holdings) Co. Limited 
(“Bright Education BVI”) (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Liu, 
who is executive director of the Company and Ms. Li Suwen (“Ms. Li”), who is the chairperson of the board of 
the Company, and is also the chief executive officer and executive director of the Company. The address of the 
registered office of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, 
Cayman Islands and the address of principal place of business of the Company is Room 3302, 33/F., Lee Garden 
One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Company, an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were mainly engaged in the provision of full spectrum private fundamental 
education, including primary, middle and high schools and ancillary services to students in the PRC. Due to regulatory 
restrictions on foreign ownership in the schools in the PRC, the substantial portion of the business is conducted 
through Guangdong Guangzheng Educational Group Co., Ltd. (廣東光正教育集團有限公司) (“Guangdong 
Guangzheng”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Affected Entities”) in the PRC. Dongguan Ruixing 
Business Services Co., Ltd. (東莞瑞興商務服務有限公司) (“Dongguan Ruixing”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, had entered into the contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Affected Entities 
and their respective equity holders, which enabled Dongguan Ruixing and the Group to have control over the 
Affected Entities though the Company did not have any equity interest in the Affected Entities.

Consequently, the Company regarded the Affected Entities as indirect subsidiaries. The Group had consolidated 
the financial position and results of Affected Entities in the consolidated financial statements of the Group during 
the year ended 31 August 2021 before the Group lost control over the Affected Entities as a result of the effect of 
the Implementation Regulations of the People’s Republic of China on the Law Regarding the Promotion of Private 
Education (the “Implementation Regulations”).

On 14 May 2021, the General Office of the State Council of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC State 
Council”) announced the issuance of the Implementation Regulations, which became effective on 1 September 
2021. Among other things, the Implementation Regulations prohibit social organisations and individuals from 
controlling a private school that provides compulsory education by means of merger, acquisition, contractual 
arrangements and a private school providing compulsory education is prohibited from conducting transactions with 
its related parties. Compulsory education in this context means the nine years of curriculum education mandated by 
the PRC, consisting of six years of primary education and three years of secondary education.
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1. General Information (continued)
Under the Implementation Regulations, private schools providing compulsory education is prohibited from being 
controlled through contractual arrangement and conducting transactions with its related parties. Taking into account 
that: (i) Guangdong Guangzheng is a special purpose vehicle established as a holding company to hold interest in 
the Affected Entities and is engaged in investment in both compulsory education and high school education as the 
school sponsor or the holding company thereof; (ii) the Contractual Arrangements with Guangdong Guangzheng 
are narrowly tailored because it is only used to enable the Group to control the Affected Entities which engage in the 
operation of compulsory education and high schools; and (iii) all of the high school education service is provided in 
conjunction with compulsory education under the same school entities, as advised by the Group’s PRC legal advisors, 
the Contractual Arrangements with Guangdong Guangzheng and their respective equity holders are likely to be 
against the spirit of the Implementation Regulations and would more likely than not violate the Implementation 
Regulations. The legal enforceability of the Contractual Agreements is in high doubt from 1 September 2021, the 
effective date of the Implementation Regulations.

Therefore, the directors of the Company assessed the implications of Implementation Regulations and concluded 
that, based on all relevant facts and circumstances, the ability of the Group to use its power from the Contractual 
Agreements to direct the relevant activities that would most significantly affect returns of the Affected Entities had 
ceased on 31 August 2021 immediately before the Implementation Regulations became effective.

By the end of 31 August 2021, it was no longer practical for the Group to make relevant decisions in order to obtain 
significant variable returns from the Affected Entities. Accordingly, the directors of the Company assessed that the 
Group ceased its control over the Affected Entities on 31 August 2021 and therefore the carrying amount related to 
the net assets of the Affected Entities was deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of the Group as 
of 31 August 2021.

The remaining business of the Group subsequent to the deconsolidation of the Affected Entities is mainly engaged 
in the provision of ancillary services to students of primary, middle and high schools, and other customers in the 
PRC (the “Remaining Business”). There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities 
during the year ended 31 August 2022.

The directors of the Company consider the statement of profit or loss information of the Remaining Business and 
Affected Entities is useful and necessary to better understand the Group’s financial results for the year ended 31 
August 2021 in the context of the Implementation Regulations. As such, this additional information is presented in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of 
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Application of New and Amendments to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning 
on 1 September 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, 
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures 
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2
The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments relate to 
changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease 
liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related 
disclosure requirements applying IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 7”).

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as none of the relevant 
contracts has been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply 
the practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate 
benchmark reform for borrowings measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as required by IFRS 7 are 
set out in note 33.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
affective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments2

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback3

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current3

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants3

Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates2

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction2

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use1

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1

Amendments to IFRS Standards Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–20201

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application 
of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in 
the foreseeable future.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
The 2022 Amendments modify the requirements introduced by the amendments to IAS 1 issued in 2020, 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) on how an entity classifies debt 
and other financial liabilities with covenants as current or non-current. The amendments specify that only covenants 
with which the entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right 
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which are required 
to comply with only after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting 
period.

The amendments also specify the disclosure requirements about information that enables users of financial 
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within twelve months after the 
reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right 
to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after 
the reporting period.

The amendments also defer the effective date of the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2024. The amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 
amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 August 2022, the application of the amendments will not result 
in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
IAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting 
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information 
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users 
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the 
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting 
policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses 
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy 
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate 
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether 
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to 
the Practice Statement.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
(continued)
The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts 
of application, if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to 
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial statements to be measured in a 
way that involves measurement uncertainty – that is, the accounting policy may require such items to be measured 
at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity 
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting 
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in IAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, 
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take 
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial statements is determined on such a 
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, 
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have 
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use 
in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs 
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial 
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

(i) has power over the investee;

(ii) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

(iii) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which 
represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the 
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test
Effective from 1 September 2020, the Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on transaction-
by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets 
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired 
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under 
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of 
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a 
business and no further assessment is needed.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)

Asset acquisitions
When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies 
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price 
first to financial assets or financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase 
price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at 
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs 
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet 
the definitions of an asset and a liability in the International Accounting Standards Committee’s Framework for 
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting issued in September 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) and IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 
share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment 
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the 
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard; and

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as 
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets 
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect 
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)

Business combinations (continued)
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at 
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair 
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period, and 
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; 
or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group 
has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to 
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net 
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output method, 
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services 
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, 
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation (continued)

Output method (continued)
The Group’s major revenue-generating operations, representing revenue from certain school-related supply 
chain business and comprehensive educational services, including service of schools buses, extracurricular 
activities program, study tours, summer/winter camps, sports and arts group activities, post-activity review 
and assessment and after-school care in-cooperation with third parties. (2021: revenue representing tuition 
and boarding (each being single performance obligation) and certain school-related supply chain business and 
comprehensive educational services). Output method is used when determining progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the performance obligation of the courses and programs or services provided, which is to 
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of services transferred to the customers to 
date relative to the remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance 
in transferring control of services. Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the service 
period.

Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether 
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the 
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is 
an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a 
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or 
service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by 
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it 
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for 
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 or arising from 
business combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, 
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are 
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative 
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and are accounted for by applying other applicable 
standards.

Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of properties that have a lease term of 
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on 
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets 
at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, 
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the 
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to 
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present 
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 
the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review, in which 
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances 
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, 
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised 
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to 
the relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more 
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to 
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate 
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is 
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Government grants relating to 
compensation of expenses are deducted from the related expenses, other government grants are presented 
under “other income”.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are 
recognised as expenses when employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 
unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees 
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest 
and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another IFRS requires or permits 
their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in 
equity (shares held for share award scheme reserve/share options reserve). At the end of each reporting period, 
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all 
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment 
to the shares held for share award scheme reserve/share options reserve. For shares/share options that vest 
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/share options granted is expensed immediately to 
profit or loss.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Shares/Share options granted to employees (continued)
When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred 
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the 
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated 
profits.

When the trustee transfers the Company’s shares to grantees upon vesting, both the purchase costs and the 
related share-based payment expenses charged of the granted shares vested are reversed from the shares held 
for share award scheme reserve. The difference arising from this transfer is debited/credited to accumulated 
profits. At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of shares that are 
expected to ultimately vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact 
of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the 
shares held for share award scheme reserve.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before 
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than 
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising 
from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary 
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are 
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies 
IAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease 
payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same 
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as described below) are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Properties in the course of construction for production supply or administrative purposes (“construction in 
progress”) are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when 
the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land 
and building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building 
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the 
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between 
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are 
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of assets other than construction in progress less 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment, and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that 
these assets have suffered an impairment loss If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets (continued)
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating 
unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated 
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent 
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, 
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group 
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest 
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of 
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other 
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or 
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or the group of cash-generating units) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on 
a weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less 
all costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly 
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market 
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising 
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and 
collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial 
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration 
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the 
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset 
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so 
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or 
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, investments in debt securities, pledged bank 
deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee contracts which are subject to impairment assessment 
under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment 
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as 
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed 
individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime 
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 
effort.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) 
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a 
debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment 
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment 
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing 
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan 
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a loan 
commitment relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that 
the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that 
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data and adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation 
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks 
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default 
by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is 
the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any 
amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the 
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money 
and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into 
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset 
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all 
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables, and deposits 
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net 
of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with 
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. 
It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and

• the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over the 
guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.
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4. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company 
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for financial guarantee contract
The Group measures the ECL on financial guarantee contracts by assessing individually the ECL by reference to the 
risk that the specified borrowers will default on the borrowing contracts, (taking into account an analysis of each 
borrower’s current financial position and forward-looking expectations) and the expected payments to reimburse 
the bank institutions for a credit loss that the bank institutions would suffer in the event of borrowers failing to 
repay amounts drawn down by the borrowers under the bank facilities provided by the bank institutions. Based 
on the assessment of the Group, as at 31 August 2022, the carrying amounts of financial guarantee contracts is 
RMB276,973,000 (2021: RMB271,841,000). Details of financial guarantee contracts are set out in note 27.
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5. Revenue and Segment Information
During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group is mainly engaged in the provision of full spectrum private 
fundamental education, including primary, middle and high schools in the PRC. Revenue represents service income 
from tuition and boarding fees, ancillary services and management service fees less returns and sales related tax.

As a result of the issuance of the Implementation Regulations which came into effect on 1 September 2021, 
the Affected Entities in the PRC were deconsolidated on 31 August 2021, during the year ended 31 August 
2022, revenue from the Remaining Business represent income from school-related supply chain business and 
comprehensive educational services less returns and sales related tax.

During the year ended 31 August 2021, information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”) who has been identified as the chief executive officer, for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance, is on a school by school basis. Each individual school within Affected Entities 
constitutes an operating segment, services provided and type of customers are similar in each operating segment, 
and each operating segment is subject to similar regulatory environment. Accordingly, their segment information 
is aggregated as a single reportable segment as “Schools”. In addition, during the year ended 31 August 2021, 
the Group engaged in provision of management services to certain private schools owned by independent third 
parties in the PRC, which is presented as “Others” as the segment does not meet the quantitative thresholds for the 
reportable segment.

From the effective date of the Implementation Regulations, the CODM reviews revenue analysis of the Group as a 
whole. For the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the CODM reviews the 
consolidated results when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group as 
a whole and no other discrete financial information is provided to the CODM. Accordingly, the Group has only one 
operating and reportable segment and no further analysis of this single segment is presented.

The management of the Group assesses the performance of the reportable segment based on the revenue and gross 
profit for the year of the Group as presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. The accounting policies of the reportable segment are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. No 
analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities is regularly provided to the management of the Group for review.

Due to the change in the composition of the reportable segments, prior year segment information was restated to 
reflect the current reporting structure for the segments, which are as presented in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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5. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

Revenue
The revenues attributable to the Group’s service lines are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Tuition and boarding fees — 1,579,183
School-related supply chain business 154,431 592,979
Comprehensive educational services 123,156 88,754
Management service fees — 2,831   

277,587 2,263,747   

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major services:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Recognised at a point of time
School-related supply chain business 138,664 465,260

  
Recognised over time

— Tuition and boarding fees — 1,579,183
— School-related supply chain business 15,767 127,719
— Comprehensive educational services 123,156 88,754
— Management service fees — 2,831   

277,587 2,263,747   
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5. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

Revenue (continued)

(ii) Performance obligation for contracts with customers

School-related supply chain business recognised at a point in time
Revenue from school-related supply chain business recognised at a point in time includes sales of daily 
necessities, e.g. school uniforms, bedding products, stationery products, and other educational materials, 
revenue is recognised when the control of goods has been transferred, being the time when the goods are 
accepted by the customers.

School-related supply chain business recognised over time
Revenue from school-related supply chain business recognised over time represent the school buses services 
provided by the Group.

Comprehensive educational services recognised over time
Revenue from comprehensive educational services includes provision of extracurricular activities program, 
study tours, summer/winter camps, sports and arts group activities, post-activity review and assessment and 
after-school care in cooperation with third parties. The performance obligations of these services are satisfied 
over time as customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of these services throughout the 
service period. The Group estimates the refund liabilities by considering the historical experience and are 
considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. 
Revenue is recognised for the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled. A contract 
liability is recognised for fee received for which revenue has not yet been recognised.

Tuition and boarding fees recognised over time
Tuition and boarding fees received from Affected Entities during the year ended 31 August 2021 are 
generally paid in advance at the beginning of school term, and are initially recorded as contract liabilities. 
Tuition and boarding fees are recognised proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. 
The performance obligation of providing tuition and boarding services is satisfied over time as customers 
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of these services throughout the service period and revenue 
is recognised for the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled. The portion of tuition 
and boarding payments received from students but not earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected as 
a current liability as such amounts represent revenue that the Group expects to release to profit or loss within 
one year.

Management service fees (revenue recognised over time)
Management service fees represent education management and consulting service provided to certain private 
schools owned by independent third parties in the PRC. The performance obligations of these services are 
satisfied over time as customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of these services throughout 
the service period, the Group recognises revenue over time through the duration of the service period.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with 
customers
The contracts for provision of education services and management services are for periods of one year or less. As 
permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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5. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as 
follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Customer A 71,501 —   

Geographical information
The Group primarily operates in the PRC. Revenue of the Group is mainly generated from services and goods 
provided to the external customers in the PRC. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based 
on the geographical location of the assets.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Mainland, PRC 586 177
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, PRC 3,249 7,447   

3,835 7,624   

Note: Non-current assets exclude the deferred tax assets and pledged bank deposits.

6. Other Income

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Amortised income of financial guarantee contracts (note 27) 21,248 —
Rental income from investment properties — 1,177
Government grants (Note) 10,079 13,730
Staff quarter income — 4,486
Others 1,661 4,981   

32,988 24,374   

Note: During the year ended 31 August 2022, government grants mainly represent unconditional subsidies granted by certain local governments for 

encouraging domestic business development and giving financial support to the Group’s operations.

During the year ended 31 August 2021, government grants mainly represent unconditional subsidies from government for organising schools 

activities, development of education services, outstanding academic performance of schools, encouraging domestic business development and 

giving financial support to the Group’s operations.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the above subsidies.
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7. Other Gains and Losses

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Exchange loss (12,299) (26,569)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net — (10)
Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets/leases — 36,422
Loss on change in fair value of investment properties — (2,900)
Expected credit loss for financial guarantee contracts (note 27) (26,380) —
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 1,624 42,090
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL 5,754 174
Recovery of receivables written off prior to acquisition of a subsidiary — 18,172
Indemnities and penalties — (25,942)
Others, net (6) (151)   

(31,307) 41,286   

8. Finance Income

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Bank interest income 6,130 1,734
Interest income on refundable rental deposit 60 230
Interest income on investments in debt securities (note 20) 10,075 7,534
Interest income on loan to a third party 375 378   

16,640 9,876   
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9. Finance Costs

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Interest expense on bank borrowings 8,319 162,630
Interest on lease liabilities 190 33,043   

8,509 195,673
Less: amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying assets — (108,240)   

8,509 87,433   

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 August 2021 arose on the general borrowing pool and are 
calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 5.1% per annum to expenditure on property, plant and equipment 
(construction in progress).

No borrowing cost is capitalised during the year ended 31 August 2022.

10. Taxation

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Taxation comprises:

Current tax:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT”) 26,810 63,426
Hong Kong Profits Tax 55 —
Overprovision in prior years — PRC EIT (365) (5,680)

Deferred tax credit (303) (1,346)   

26,197 56,400   
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10. Taxation (continued)
The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss) before taxation as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit (loss) before taxation 122,382 (2,222,166)   

Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 30,596 (555,542)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8,384 12,791
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (2,640) —
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 5,529 100,108
Tax effect of loss on deconsolidation of Affected Entities — 724,817
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised — (43)
Effect of tax concessions and partial tax exemption — (193,959)
Effect of preferential tax rate (15,932) (26,142)
Overprovision in prior years — PRC EIT (365) (5,680)
Others 625 50   

Taxation for the year 26,197 56,400   

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and Bright Education Co, Limited, a subsidiary of the 
Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) that are tax exempted as no business carried out 
in Cayman Islands and BVI under the tax laws of the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the 
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits 
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 
16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first 
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 
million.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group derived no assessable profits in Hong Kong 
during the year ended 31 August 2021.

Pursuant to the Announcement of (2020) No.23 promulgated by the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration 
of Taxation and the National Development and Reform Commission in April 2020, the subsidiaries of the Group 
incorporated in Ganzhou, Jiangxi province, the PRC, are eligible to enjoy a reduced enterprise income tax rate of 
15% and the relevant preferential tax policies will end on 31 December 2030.

Pursuant to the Yuecaifa (2017) No.11 issued by the Department of Finance of Guangdong Province, the 
Administration of Local Taxation of Guangdong Province, the State Administration of Taxation of Guangdong 
Province effective from 1 January 2018, the subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in particular areas of Qingyuan, 
Guangdong province, the PRC, is eligible to enjoy a reduced enterprise income tax rate of 15% and the relevant 
preferential tax policies will end on 31 December 2025.
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10. Taxation (continued)
According to the Law for Promoting Private Education (the “Law”), with effective from 1 September 2017, private 
schools treated as not-for-profit schools, for which the school sponsors are not allowed to distribute or receive any 
profits from schools, are eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public schools. As a result, qualified 
income obtained by not-for-profit schools, which are providing academic qualification education, are eligible to 
enjoy income tax exemption treatment. During the year ended 31 August 2021, in the opinion of legal counsel, 
according to the amendments of the memorandum and article of associations, the school sponsors do not request 
for reasonable returns from the schools under the Group are treated as not-for-profit schools under the Law and 
accordingly, all not-for-profit schools for the Group are exempt from income tax on the tuition and boarding fees. 
For the year ended 31 August 2021, the non-taxable income amounted to RMB1,563,131,000.

Other than disclosed above, all other subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are subject to the PRC EIT 
of 25% for the years ended 31 August 2022 and 2021.

As at 31 August 2022, the Group had estimated unused tax losses of approximately RMB82,757,000 (2021: 
RMB58,993,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 
the remaining unused tax losses for both years.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC 
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated undistributed profits of the PRC 
subsidiaries amounting to RMB528,871,000 at 31 August 2022 (2021: RMB743,044,000) as the Group is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

11. Loss on Deconsolidation of Affected Entities
As referred to in note 1, by the end of 31 August 2021, it was no longer practical for the Group to make relevant 
decisions in order to obtain significant variable returns from the Affected Entities. Accordingly, the directors of the 
Company assessed that the Group ceased its control over the Affected Entities on 31 August 2021 and therefore the 
carrying amount related to the net assets of the Affected Entities was deconsolidated from the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group as of 31 August 2021.
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11. Loss on Deconsolidation of Affected Entities (continued)
The assets and liabilities of the Affected Entities over which control was lost were as follows:

31 August
2021

RMB’000  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  
Property, plant and equipment 5,085,247
Right-of-use assets 1,948,652
Intangible assets 5,698
Goodwill 215,942
Investment properties 19,100
Trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 847,193  

8,121,832  

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories — goods for sale 8,286
Trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 591,344
Pledged bank deposits 7,342
Bank balances and cash 695,055  

1,302,027  

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities 1,007,850
Refund liabilities 12,667
Trade and other payables and accrued expenses 1,213,359
Income tax payable 45,679
Lease liabilities 25,121
Borrowings 850,133  

3,154,809  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 820,553
Borrowings 2,818,137
Deferred tax liabilities 2,932  

3,641,622  

NET ASSETS 2,627,428  
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11. Loss on Deconsolidation of Affected Entities (continued)
The net assets relating to the Affected Entities were RMB2,627,428,000 upon deconsolidation as at 31 August 
2021. An aggregate one-off loss upon deconsolidation of the Affected Entities was recognised during the year 
ended 31 August 2021. In addition, the Group provided financial guarantees to lenders in respect of borrowing 
facilities of the Affected Entities with these remaining unchanged after the deconsolidation of the Affected Entities. 
The fair value of the resulting financial guarantee contracts recognised in the consolidated financial statements at 
31 August 2021 is RMB271,841,000. The aggregate loss recognised upon loss on deconsolidation of the Affected 
Entities is RMB2,899,269,000 during the year ended 31 August 2021.

Net cash outflow arising on deconsolidation

2021
RMB’000  

Cash consideration —
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (695,055)  

(695,055)  

The impact of Affected Entities on the Group’s results is disclosed as additional information in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

During the year ended 31 August 2021, cash flow from Affected Entities contributed were as follows:

2021
RMB’000  

Net cash from operations activities 1,251,171
Net cash used in investing activities (2,437,956)
Net cash from financing activities 663,967  
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12. Profit (Loss) for the Year

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):   

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration
— salaries and other allowances (Note) 33,548 728,561
— retirement benefits scheme contributions 4,116 84,938
— share-based payment expenses 3,090 2,832   

Total staff costs 40,754 816,331   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,314 154,497
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 3,245 67,611
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from the acquisition of 

schools (included in cost of revenue) — 8,925   

Total depreciation and amortisation 4,559 231,033
Capitalised in construction-in-progress — (11,413)   

4,559 219,620   

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 72,024 266,131
Donations — 3,215
Auditors’ remuneration 1,759 3,430
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal

— trade receivables 1,338 —
— deposits and other receivables 270 158
— investments in debt securities (3,489) 3,725
— financial guarantee contracts 26,380 —   

24,499 3,883   

Note: For the year ended 31 August 2021, the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) related government assistance amounted to RMB2,047,000 have 

been offset against salaries and other allowances. No government assistance was received by the Group during the year ended 31 August 

2022.



Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited104

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Directors’
 fee

Salaries
and other

allowances
Discretionary

bonus

Share-based
payment
expenses

Retirement
benefits 
scheme

contributions

 
 

Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

  (Note iii)           

Executive directors (Note i)       
Mr. Liu 1,944 — — — — 1,944
Ms. Li (Note iv) 1,451 — — — — 1,451
Mr. Li Jiuchang 208 475 — 676 — 1,359
Mr. Wang Yongchun 208 308 — 544 — 1,060       

Independent non-executive 
directors (Note ii)

Prof. Sun Kai Lit, Cliff, BBS, J.P. 167 — — — — 167
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 167 — — — — 167
Mr. Huang Weiguo 167 — — — — 167       

4,312 783 — 1,220 — 6,315       



Annual Report 2022 105

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2021

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries
and other

allowances
Discretionary

bonus

Share-based
payment
expenses

Retirement
benefits 
scheme

contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note iii)           

Executive directors (Note i)       
Mr. Liu 2,805 — — — — 2,805
Ms. Li (Note iv) 2,022 60 — — 13 2,095
Mr. Li Jiuchang 211 735 — 805 13 1,764
Mr. Wang Yongchun 211 635 — 647 13 1,506       

Independent non-executive 
directors (Note ii)

Prof. Sun Kai Lit, Cliff, BBS, J.P. 211 — — — — 211
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 211 — — — — 211
Mr. Huang Weiguo 211 — — — — 211       

5,882 1,430 — 1,452 39 8,803       

Notes:

i. The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 

Company and the Group.

ii. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for their services as directors of the Company.

iii. The bonus payments are determined based on the Group’s performance and directors’ personal performance.

iv. Ms. Li is the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer of the Company during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year.
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13. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included four directors (2021: four), whose emoluments are included 
in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the remaining one individual (2021: one) are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Salaries and other allowances 1,117 1,200
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 14 13   

1,131 1,213   

The number of the five highest paid individuals, other than directors, were within the following band:

2022 2021   

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1   

During the years ended 31 August 2022 and 2021, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the 
Company or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation 
for loss of office.

14. Dividends
During the year ended 31 August 2022, a special dividend in respect of the year ended 31 August 2021 
of RMB0.106 (equivalent to HK$0.128 per share) per share amounting to RMB230,232,000 (equivalent to 
HK$277,499,000) was declared and paid to the shareholders of the Company.
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15. Earnings (Loss) Per Share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based 
on the following data:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Earnings (loss)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company for 

the purposes of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 96,185 (2,119,748)   

2022 2021
’000 ’000   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

basic earnings (loss) per share 2,167,959 2,166,069
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options — 140
Share award scheme 470 1,552   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
diluted earnings (loss) per share 2,168,429 2,167,761   

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic earnings (loss) per share shown above 
have been arrived at after deducting shares held by a share award scheme trust.

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share.
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Buildings
Leasehold

improvements
Motor

vehicles
Furniture

and fixtures
Construction

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

COST       
At 1 September 2020 2,516,170 410,088 12,829 246,739 1,368,770 4,554,596
Additions 11,624 26,406 1,681 36,357 1,055,290 1,131,358
Additions from acquisitions (note 34) 103,700 — 316 3,130 — 107,146
Transfer 659,470 5,709 — 6,150 (671,329) —
Disposals (442) — (601) (6,735) — (7,778)
Deconsolidation of Affected Entities (3,290,522) (439,313) (13,117) (284,237) (1,752,731) (5,779,920)       

At 31 August 2021 — 2,890 1,108 1,404 — 5,402
Additions — 303 67 400 — 770       

At 31 August 2022 — 3,193 1,175 1,804 — 6,172       

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 September 2020 (258,538) (143,253) (6,088) (141,267) — (549,146)
Provided for the year (57,192) (53,651) (2,384) (41,270) — (154,497)
Eliminated on disposals 72 — 321 5,390 — 5,783
Deconsolidation of Affected Entities 315,658 194,707 8,058 176,250 — 694,673       

At 31 August 2021 — (2,197) (93) (897) — (3,187)
Provided for the year — (734) (291) (289) — (1,314)       

At 31 August 2022 — (2,931) (384) (1,186) — (4,501)       

NET BOOK VALUES
At 31 August 2022 — 262 791 618 — 1,671       

At 31 August 2021 — 693 1,015 507 — 2,215       

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, after taking into account 
their estimated residual value, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following useful life:

Buildings 30–50 years
Leasehold improvements 5–30 years
Motor vehicles 4–5 years
Furniture and fixtures 4–5 years
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17. Right-of-use Assets

Leasehold 
lands

Leased 
properties Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

At 31 August 2022    
Carrying amounts — 2,164 2,164

At 31 August 2021
Carrying amounts — 5,409 5,409

For the year ended 31 August 2022
Depreciation charge — 3,245 3,245    

For the year ended 31 August 2021
Depreciation charge 22,908 44,703 67,611
Capitalised in construction-in-progress (11,413) — (11,413)    

11,495 44,703 56,198    

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Expenses relating to short-term leases 249 1,061

Total cash outflow for leases 3,673 54,797

Additions to right-of-use assets — 682,121

Deconsolidation of Affected Entities — 1,948,652   

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group leases properties (2021: leases properties and land) for its 
operations. Lease contracts of leased properties are entered into for fixed term of 12 months to 3 years (2021: 3 
months to 30 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group 
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for properties. As at 31 August 2022, the portfolio of short-term 
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases entered during the year, to which the short-term lease expense 
of RMB249,000 (2021: RMB1,061,000) recognised in current year.

For the year ended 31 August 2021, the leasehold lands are amortised on a straight-line basis over lease terms as 
stated in the relevant land use right certificates granted for usage by the Group in the PRC.
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18. Trade Receivables, Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Trade receivables (Note i) 53,008 4,331
Less: Allowance for credit losses (1,338) —   

51,670 4,331   

Other deposits 1,389 1,259
Staff advances 189 491
Loan to a third party (Note ii) — 8,298
Other receivables 289 204
Other receivables from a third party (Note iii) 23,290 —
Amounts due from Affected Entities (Note iv) 425,763 664,591
Other prepayments (Note v) 29,302 31,985   

480,222 706,828
Less: Allowance for credit losses (487) (217)   

479,735 706,611   

Total trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 531,405 710,942   

Notes:

(i) The amounts mainly represent receivables from customers, which were from contracts for provision of goods and ancillary services. Receivables 

from sales of goods and services fee is received in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the customers are allowed a credit 

period of 30 to 60 days from date of revenue recognition.

(ii) As at 31 August 2021, the amount represents a loan to a third party amounting to RMB8,298,000 that carry interest 18% per annum 

repayable within 6 months. During the year ended 31 August 2022, the amount has been repaid by the third party.

(iii) Other receivables from a third party represent the amounts held in a third-party who manage the prepaid charge cards of consumers. The 

balance will be transferred back to the bank accounts of the Group upon the Group’s instruction and based on the balance in the statement 

mutually agreed by the Group and the third party.

(iv) As at 31 August 2022 and 2021, the amounts are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(v) Other prepayments mainly represent the advances paid to suppliers for purchasing of school supplies, school uniform, daily necessities and 

foods that have not been received.

As at 1 September 2020, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to RMB21,389,000.
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18. Trade Receivables, Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables (continued)
The following is an analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses, by age, presented based on date 
of revenue recognition.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Within 3 months 48,788 4,331
6 months — 1 year 952 —
Over 1 year 1,930 —   

51,670 4,331   

As at 31 August 2022, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying 
amount of RMB2,882,000 (2021: nil) which are past due as at the reporting date.

The credit risk management policy and ECL assessment process of the Group is detailed in note 33(b).

19. Financial Assets at FVTPL

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Unlisted private funds 132,632 73,254   

The unlisted private funds as at 31 August 2022 were funds managed by financial institutions incorporated in Hong 
Kong. They were mandatorily classified as investments at FVTPL as its contractual cash flows are not solely payments 
of principal and interest. The funds are classified as current at the period ended as the investments are redeemable 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 August 2022, financial asset at FVTPL amounting to RMB28,721,000 (2021: RMB32,978,000) has been 
pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings as set out in note 26.

Details of the currency risk and fair value measurement for the financial assets at FVTPL are set out in note 33(b) and 
(d).
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20. Investments in Debt Securities

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Listed debt securities 21,197 32,483
Unlisted debt securities — 96,030   

21,197 128,513   

The Group’s investments in debt securities represent investment in listed guaranteed bonds (2021: listed and 
unlisted guaranteed bonds) that carry fixed interest at 13.5% per annum (2021: 11.5% to 13.5%) and will mature 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. None of these assets has been past due at the end of the 
reporting period. Finance income amounting to RMB10,075,000 (2021: RMB7,534,000) was recognised during the 
year ended 31 August 2022.

The investment in debt securities of carrying amount of RMB21,197,000 as at 31 August 2022 (2021: 
RMB128,513,000) is denominated in United States Dollars (“US$”).

Details of the currency risk and ECL assessment are set out in note 33(b).

21. Pledged Bank Deposits
Pledged bank deposits comprise of deposits pledged to banks to secure bank facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 August 2022, deposits amounting to RMB61,638,000 (equivalent to HK$70,067,000) (2021: 
RMB82,995,000 (equivalent to HK$100,018,000)) that have been pledged to secure short-term borrowings are 
classified as current assets, and the remaining deposits amounting to RMB285,845,000 (2021: nil) that have been 
pledged to secure long-term borrowings are classified as non-current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carried a weighted-average interest rate of 1.86% per annum (2021: 0.06% per annum) 
at 31 August 2022.
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22. Bank Balances and Cash
Bank balance and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits held by the Group with an original maturity of three 
months or less.

As at 31 August 2022, the Group’s bank deposits carried a weighted-average interest rate of 0.22% (2021: 0.28%) 
per annum.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

RMB denominated bank balances and cash 258,315 361,379
HK$ denominated bank balances and cash 63,657 35,306
US$ denominated bank balances and cash 6,772 5,504   

328,744 402,189   

23. Contract Liabilities

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

School-related supply chain business 3,103 9,464
Comprehensive educational services 10,917 8,587   

14,020 18,051   

Contract liabilities are classified as current based on the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods/services to the 
customers.

The contract liabilities at 1 September 2020 amounted to RMB858,305,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

At At
31 August 31 August

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability 
balance at the beginning of the period 18,051 858,305   

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

• Contract liability is recognised by the Group for the portion of fees that the Group collected from the customers 
in relation to performance obligations that have not been satisfied.
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24. Trade and Other Payables and Accrued Expenses

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Trade payables (Note i) 55,455 8,736
Accrued staff benefits and payroll 4,370 4,288
Receipts in advance from students collected on behalf of third parties 487 19,228
Other tax payables 18,209 25,904
Deposits received 2,585 24
Amounts due to Affected Entities (Note ii) 105,930 208,772
Other payables 4,040 5,223   

191,076 272,175   

Notes:

i. The credit period granted by suppliers on purchase of goods is 30 to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies to settle 

payables within the credit timeframe. As at 31 August 2022 and 2021, the trade payables were aged within 180 days based on invoice date.

ii. As at 31 August 2022, the amounts are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

25. Lease Liabilities

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Lease liabilities payable:   
Within one year 2,243 3,234
Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years — 2,243   

2,243 5,477
Less: A mount due for settlement with 12 months shown 

under current liabilities (2,243) (3,234)   

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown 
under non-current liabilities — 2,243   



Annual Report 2022 115

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. Borrowings

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Secured bank borrowings 372,811 174,258   
   
Carrying amounts repayable:

— Within one year 127,573 174,258
— More than one year, but not exceeding two years 18 —
— More than two years, but not exceeding five years 245,220 —   

372,811 174,258
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (127,573) (174,258)   

245,238 —   

The exposure of borrowings:
— Fixed rate 245,255 —
— Variable rate 127,556 174,258   

372,811 174,258   
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26. Borrowings (continued)
The Group has variable-rate borrowings which carry interest with reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered 
Rate (“HIBOR”). At the end of the reporting period, the ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to 
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2022 2021   

Effective interest rate:   
Fixed rate bank borrowings 2.2% n/a
Variable-rate bank borrowings 1.9% – 3.1% 1.5% – 2.7%   

As at 31 August 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by pledged bank deposit and investment 
in unlisted private funds that is recognised as financial assets at FVTPL.

Certain borrowings are also guaranteed by the Company, Dongguan Ruixing, Guangdong Guangzheng and Mr. Liu 
at no cost. The guaranteed amounts provided by the related parties at 31 August 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Name of related parties 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Mr. Liu 127,556 —
Guangdong Guangzheng — 124,470   

During the year, in respect of bank borrowings with a carrying amount of RMB35,188,000 (2021: nil) as at 31 
August 2022, a subsidiary of the Group breached certain of the terms of the bank borrowings, which are primarily 
related to the net assets of the Group. On discovery of the breach, the directors of the Company informed the lender 
and commenced a renegotiation of the terms of the bank borrowings with the relevant banker. As at 31 August 
2022, those negotiations had not been concluded. Since the lender has not agreed to waive its right to demand 
immediate payment as at the end of the reporting period, the bank borrowings have been classified as a current 
liability as at 31 August 2022. Up to the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial statements, the 
negotiations are still in progress. The directors of the Company are confident that their negotiations with the lender 
will ultimately reach a successful conclusion. In any event, should the lender call for immediate repayment of the 
bank borrowings, the directors of the Company believe that adequate alternative sources of finance are available to 
ensure that there is no threat to the continuing operations of the Group.
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27. Financial Guarantee Contracts

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial guarantee contracts 276,973 271,841   

The financial guarantee contracts provided to Affected Entities that were recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at 31 August 2022 and 2021. As at 31 August 2022, the aggregate amount of outstanding financial 
guarantees issued to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to Affected Entities that the Group could be 
required to pay upon amounted to RMB4,604,525,000 (2021: RMB5,242,500,000) if the guarantees were called 
upon in entirety. RMB3,180,295,000 (2021: RMB3,668,270,000) of the outstanding financial guarantees has been 
utilised by the Affected Entities.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, amortised income of financial guarantee contracts amounting to 
RMB21,248,000 is recognised in other income and ECL for financial guarantee contracts amounting to 
RMB26,380,000 is recognised in other gains and losses, which are set out in notes 6 and 7, respectively.

Details of the loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts are set out in note 33.

28. Deferred Taxation
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon during the year:

Revaluation of
Investment 
properties

ECL
Provisions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

At 1 September 2020 4,278 — 4,278
Credit to profit or loss (1,346) — (1,346)
Deconsolidation of Affected Entities (2,932) — (2,932)    

At 31 August 2021 — — —
Credit to profit or loss — (303) (303)    

At 31 August 2022 — (303) (303)    
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29. Share Capital

Par value
Number of

shares
Nominal
amount

  HK$    

Ordinary shares    
Authorised:    

At 1 September 2020, 31 August 2021, 
and 31 August 2022 HK$0.01 10,000,000,000 100,000,000    

Par value
Number of

shares
Nominal 
amount

Nominal 
amount

equivalent to

Shown in the
consolidated

financial
statements as

HK$ RMB RMB’000      

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 September 2020 HK$0.01 2,177,154,000 21,771,540 19,254,661 19,255
Exercise of share options (Note) HK$0.01 1,000,000 10,000 8,363 8      

At 31 August 2021 and 
At 31 August 2022 HK$0.01 2,178,154,000 21,781,540 19,263,024 19,263      

Note: During the year ended 31 August 2021, share options to subscribe for 1,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were exercised at HK$1.96 

per share. These shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respect.
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30. Share-based Payments

Share Award Scheme
The Company has adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with effect from 7 June 2017 as 
means to recognise the contribution of and provide incentives for the key management personnel including directors 
and senior management and employees of the Group (“Selected Participants”). Under the Share Award Scheme, the 
board of directors of the Company may grant shares to eligible employees, including directors of the Company and 
its subsidiaries.

In order to allow the release of shares to beneficiaries upon vesting of each share award under the Share Award 
Scheme, the Company will allot and issue such number of shares representing up to 10% of the shares in issue of 
the Company. The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to each of the Selected Participants under 
the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the number of issued share capital of the 
Company in issue.

The Company has set up a trustee (the “Trustee”) to administrate and hold the Company’s shares before they are 
vested and transferred to the Selected Participants. The Trustee may also purchase the Company’s shares being 
awarded from the open market using cash contributed by the Company.

Details of share award granted during the years ended 31 August 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Date of grant

Average fair
value per share
at date of grant

Number of
awarded shares

Number of awarded shares 
vested during the year ended

31 August Vesting period

2022 2021      

6.9.2018 HK$4.38 8,400,000 470,000 470,000 6.9.2019 to 
31.8.2028

Average 
fair value 
per share

Date of
grant

Outstanding
at 1/9/2021

Granted
during 

the year

Vested
during 

the year

Forfeited
during 

the year
Outstanding

at 31/8/2022
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

(Note i)          

Executive directors
Mr. Li Jiuchang HK$4.38 6.9.2018 1,200 — (100) — 1,100
Mr.Wang Yongchun HK$4.38 6.9.2018 960 — (80) — 880        

Employees HK$4.38 6.9.2018 3,330 — (290) — 3,040        

Total 5,490 — (470) — 5,020        
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30. Share-based Payments (continued)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

Average 
fair value 
per share

Date of
grant

Outstanding
at 1/9/2020

Granted
during 

the year

Vested
during 

the year

Forfeited
during 

the year
Outstanding

at 31/8/2021
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

(Note i) (Note ii)        

Executive directors
Mr. Li Jiuchang HK$4.38 6.9.2018 1,300 — (100) — 1,200
Mr.Wang Yongchun HK$4.38 6.9.2018 1,040 — (80) — 960        

Employees HK$4.38 6.9.2018 4,321 — (290) (701) 3,330        

Total 6,661 — (470) (701) 5,490        

Notes:

i. The amount represents awarded shares vested during the year.

ii. During the year ended 31 August 2021, one employee of the Group resigned and the corresponding awarded shares were forfeited 

accordingly.

No shares was purchased by the Trustee for the Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 August 2022 and 
2021.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, share-based payment expenses amounted to RMB3,090,000 (2021: 
RMB2,832,000) was recognised under the Share Awarded Scheme and 470,000 shares (2021: 470,000 shares) were 
vested and will transfer to the Selected Participants upon vesting. As at 31 August 2022, the net total number of 
shares held by the Trustee was 9,725,000 shares (2021: 10,195,000 shares) but have not yet vested under the Share 
Award Scheme.
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30. Share-based Payments (continued)

Share Option Schemes
The Company has adopted two share option schemes, namely pre initial public offering share option scheme (the 
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) and share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), pursuant to a resolution 
passed on 3 January 2017. The total number of shares granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme has been 
fully exercised during the year ended 31 August 2019 and the total number of shares granted under the Share 
Option Scheme has been fully exercised during the year ended 31 August 2021.

At 31 August 2022 and 2021, there is no outstanding share option is under the two share option schemes. No share 
options was granted during the both years.

Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of nine years commencing 14 March 2017. The purpose 
of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and reward eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and to 
align their interests with that of the Company so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the 
Company. Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options to eligible persons, 
including directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to any 
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, 
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The maximum number of shares which may be issued 
upon exercise of all outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital from time to time. 
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors of the Company in excess of 
0.1% of the Company’s share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 at the date of grant must be 
approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders in general meeting.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days after the date of grant, upon payment of subscription price and 
relevant fees and charges. Options may be exercised at any time during the period as determined by the directors of 
the Company. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher 
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for 
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted will be adjusted, in the event of any 
alteration in the capital structure of the Company whether by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, rights issue, 
repurchase, consolidation, redenomination, subdivision or reduction in the share capital of the Company provided 
that no such adjustment shall be made in the event of an issue of shares as consideration in respect of a transaction.
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30. Share-based Payments (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by an employee during the year 
ended 31 August 2021:

Exercise
price

Date of
grant

Outstanding
at 1/9/2020

Granted
during 

the year

Exercised
during 

the year
Outstanding

at 31/8/2021
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000       

Share Option Scheme
Employee HK$1.96 14 March 2017 1,000 — (1,000) —       

Total 1,000 — (1,000) —       

Exercisable at the end of the year Nil       

Weighted average exercise price HK$1.96 Nil HK$1.96 —       

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the dates on which the options 
were exercised during the year ended 31 August 2021 was HK$4.07. No share based payments was recognised for 
the year ended 31 August 2021 in relation to share options granted by the Company.



Annual Report 2022 123

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. Retirement Benefits Plans
The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets 
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group 
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by 
the PRC government. The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs as determined by 
respective local government authority to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of 
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions under the scheme.

Pursuant to Notice of Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, the Ministry of Finance and the State 
Taxation Administration on Temporarily Exempting or Lowering Social Insurance Payments of Enterprises (《人力資
源社會保障部、財政部和國家稅務總局關於階段性減免企業社會保險費的通知》), the government has decided to 
temporarily exempt or lower enterprises’ pension, unemployment and work-related injury compensation insurance 
payments to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on enterprises. As a result, during the year ended 31 August 2021, 
the Group is exempted from certain social insurance payments amounted RMB2,047,000 due to the outbreak of 
COVID-19.

The amounts of contributions made by the Group in respect of the retirement benefits scheme for the years are 
disclosed in note 12.

32. Capital Risk Management
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of business. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings disclosed in note 26, net of bank 
balance and cash, pledged bank deposits and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share 
capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous basis taking into account the cost 
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the 
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues, payment of dividends, the 
issue of new debts as well as the redemption of the existing debts.
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33. Financial Instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 132,632 73,254
Financial assets at amortised cost 1,199,527 1,292,654   

1,332,159 1,365,908   

Financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 August 2022 and 2021 respectively are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Trade receivables 51,670 4,331
Other deposits 1,389 1,042
Staff advances 189 491
Other receivables from a third party 22,803 —
Loan to a third party — 8,298
Other receivables 289 204
Amounts due from Affected Entities 425,763 664,591   

Total trade receivables, deposits and other receivables 502,103 678,957

Investments in debt securities 21,197 128,513
Bank balances and cash 328,744 402,189
Pledged bank deposits 347,483 82,995   

Financial assets at amortised cost 1,199,527 1,292,654   

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 168,497 241,983
Borrowings 372,811 174,258   

At amortised cost 541,308 416,241   

Financial guarantee contracts 276,973 271,841   
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt securities, trade 
receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank balances and cash, pledged bank deposits, trade and other 
payables, borrowings and financial guarantee contracts. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in 
the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out 
below.

The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on 
a timely and effective manner. These risks include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
Part of the Group’s deposits placed with the bank and certain financial assets at FVTPL are denominated 
in HK$ and US$, and investment in debt securities are denominated in US$, which is different from the 
functional currency of the Company and most of its subsidiaries (i.e. RMB). Also, certain lease liabilities 
and borrowings of the Group are denominated in HK$.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments and intra-group balances being denominated 
in HK$ and US$ at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2022 2021 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

HK$ denominated bank
balances and cash — — 63,657 35,306

HK$ denominated
pledged bank deposits — — 61,638 82,995

HK$ denominated financial
assets at FVTPL — — 132,632 32,978

HK$ denominated other
receivables — — — 8,298

HK$ denominated
borrowings 372,811 174,258 — —

HK$ denominated
lease liabilities 2,243 5,477 — —

HK$ denominated
Intra-group balances 4,906 11,265 4,906 11,265

US$ denominated bank
balances and cash — — 6,772 5,504

US$ denominated financial
assets at FVTPL — — — 40,276

US$ denominated investment
in debt securities — — 21,197 128,513     
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 August 2022 and 2021, apart from above, the Group did not have significant amount of 
monetary liabilities and other monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than 
RMB.

The Group will consider using forward exchange contracts to hedge against foreign currency exposures if 
necessary.

Sensitivity analysis
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ 
and US$ against RMB. 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk 
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding HK$ and 
US$ denominated pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVTPL, investments 
in debt securities and other receivables and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period 
for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in 
post-tax profit and where RMB strengthen 5% (2021: 5%) against HK$. A negative number below 
indicates a decrease in post-tax profit and where RMB strengthen 5% (2021: 5%) against US$. For a 5% 
(2021: 5%) weakening of RMB against HK$ or US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the 
post-tax profit.

HK$ US$

2022 2021 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

Profit or (loss) 5,856 1,008 (1,398) (8,715)     



Annual Report 2022 127

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate borrowings (note 26 for details), 
lease liabilities (note 25 for details), loan to a third party (note 18 for details), investments in debt 
securities (note 20 for details) and pledged bank deposits (note 21 for details). The Group is also exposed 
to cash flow interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities, mainly bank balances and cash (note 22 for details) and variable-rate borrowings (note 26 for 
details) which carried at prevailing market interest rates. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly 
concentrated on fluctuation of market rate, i.e. the benchmark saving rate quoted by the People’s Bank 
of China on variable-rate bank balances and HIBOR quoted by The Hong Kong Association of Banks 
arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep 
certain borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The Group 
currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the 
directors of the Company will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks has been undertaken globally to replace some 
interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the 
Group’s risk management strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform and the progress 
towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out in note 33(c).

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate 
borrowings at the end of the reporting period and assumed that the amount outstanding at the end of 
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used 
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity 
analysis as the directors of the Company consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising 
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 August 2022 would decrease/increase by RMB638,000 (2021: 
RMB871,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its borrowings with 
variable rate.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as 
the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties or borrowers on liabilities which the Group has 
guaranteed default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s 
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, investments in debt 
securities, pledged bank deposits and bank balances. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will 
cause a financial loss to the Group is arising from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial 
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or 
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets and financial guarantee 
contracts.

The management of the Group makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of these financial 
assets under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk 
exposures and the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at 
lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed individually, based on the past default experience of the 
debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both 
the current as well as the forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort at the end 
of each year.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 94.4% (2021: 36.4%) and 96.7% (2021: 87.3%) of the total 
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively as 
at 31 August 2022. The remaining trade debtors individually contributed less than 10% of the total trade 
receivables of the Group.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new corporate customer, the Group 
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Other monitoring 
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade receivables individually by 
reference to the Group’s internal credit ratings. Impairment of RMB1,338,000 (2021: nil) is recognised during 
the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)

Deposits and other receivables
The Group has applied 12m ECL in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance for deposits and other receivables, 
investments in debt securities, pledged bank deposits and bank balances, unless when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.

The ECL on deposits and other receivables is assessed individually based on historical settlement records, 
reasons for extended repayment period and past default experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the end of each year.

Deposits and other receivables mainly comprise of staff advances, other deposits, loan to a third party, amounts 
due from Affected Entities and other receivables. Having considered the financial position, risk characteristics, 
past repayment history and other factors of staff advances, other deposits, loan to a third party, amounts due 
from Affected Entities and the other receivables, the Group has provided RMB487,000 (2021: RMB217,000) 
impairment allowance on deposits and other receivables after individually assessment as at 31 August 2022. 
Impairment loss of RMB270,000 (2021: RMB158,000) is recognised during the year ended 31 August 2022.

Investments in debt securities
The Group’s debt instruments at amortised cost mainly comprise listed and unlisted guaranteed bonds, after 
considering the financial position, risk characteristics, past repayment history of the investments, ECL of 
RMB3,489,000 on investments in debt securities is reversed in profit or loss (2021: ECL of RMB3,725,000 is 
recognised in the profit or loss) during the year ended 31 August 2022.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances
The credit risks on pledged bank deposits and bank balances are limited because the counterparties are 
reputable financial institutions. The management of the Group considers the pledged bank deposits and most 
of the bank balances that are deposited with the financial institutions with high credit rating to be low credit 
risk financial assets. As at 31 August 2022 and 2021, the Group performed impairment assessment on pledged 
bank deposits and bank balances by reference to the average loss rate for respective credit rating grades 
published by international credit-rating agencies and concluded that the ECL is insignificant.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high credit 
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts
As at 31 August 2022, the financial guarantee contracts provided to the Affected Entities were initially 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value. At the end of the reporting period, the 
management has performed impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk on the financial guarantee contracts with the maximum amount of RMB1,924,000,000 (2021: 
RMB1,924,000,000) since initial recognition and the loss allowance for these financial guarantee contracts 
issued by the Group is measured at lifetime ECL. There has been no significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition of the remaining financial guarantee contracts provided to the Affected Entities, and the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL.

As at 31 August 2022, financial guarantee contracts of RMB276,973,000 (2021: RMB271,841,000) was 
recognised, and amortised income of RMB21,248,000 and ECL of RMB26,380,000 were recognised in the 
profit or loss during the year ended 31 August 2022. Details of the financial guarantee contracts are set out in 
note 27.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description Trade receivables

Other financial 
assets/other items    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk 
of default and does not have 
any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

 

12m ECL
 

  
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due 

dates but usually settle in full
Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired
12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant
increases in credit risk since initial 
recognition through information
developed internally or externally

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the 
asset is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that 
the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and the Group has no 
realistic prospect

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s trade receivables, deposits and other 
receivables, investments in debt securities, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and financial guarantee 
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment:

Notes

External
credit
rating

Internal
credit
rating

12m or
lifetime ECL

2022
Gross carrying

amount

2021
Gross carrying

amount
RMB’000 RMB’000       

Financial assets at 
amortised costs

Trade receivables 18 N/A Low risk
(Note i)

lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

49,830 4,331

N/A Doubtful
(Note i)

lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

3,178 —

Deposits and other receivables 18 N/A Low risk
(Notes ii and iii)

12m ECL 427,630 674,843

N/A Watch list 
(Notes ii and iii)

12m ECL 23,290 —

Investment in listed debt 
securities

20 N/A Low risk
(Notes ii and iv)

12m ECL 21,420 33,425

Investment in unlisted debt 
securities

20 N/A Low risk
(Notes ii and iv)

12m ECL — 98,813

Pledged bank deposits 21 Baa2 —
Aa3

N/A 12m ECL 347,483 82,995

Bank balances 22 Baa2 —
AAA

N/A 12m ECL 328,707 402,160

Other item
Financial guarantee 

contracts
27 N/A Low risk

(Note v)
12m ECL 2,680,525 3,318,500

N/A Doubtful
(Note v)

lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

1,924,000 1,924,000
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)
Notes:

(i) The Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL 

on these items based on internal credit rating on individual assessment of each customer.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation to its operation. The 

following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed individually.

2022 2021

Average 

loss rate

Trade 

receivables

Average

 loss rate

Trade 

receivables

RMB’000 RMB’000     

Low risk 2.09% 49,830 0.00% 4,331

Doubt full 9.35% 3,178 0.00% —     

53,008 4,331     

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on average of market corporate default rates and are adjusted for forward-looking 

information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects 

of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from industry expert reports and governmental bodies, as well as 

consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information such as forecast GDP growth that relate to the 

Group’s core operations. Such forward-looking information is used by the management of the Group to assess the forecast direction of 

conditions at the reporting date. The assessment is regularly reviewed by the management of the Group to ensure relevant information 

about specific debtors is updated.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired)

RMB’000  

As at 1 September 2020, 31 August 2021 and 1 September 2021 —

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 September 2021

— Impairment losses recognised 297

New financial assets originated or purchased 1,041  

As at 31 August 2022 1,338  
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly due to:

2022 2021

Increase

in lifetime ECL

not credit-

impaired

Increase

in lifetime ECL

not credit-

impaired

RMB’000 RMB’000   

Existing trade receivables with gross carrying amount of RMB3,178,000 (2021: nil) 297 —

New trade receivables with gross carrying amount of RMB49,830,000 

(2021: RMB4,331,000) 1,041 —   

1,338 —   

(ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition.

2022 2021

Not past due/

No fixed 

repayment

terms

Not past due/

No fixed 

repayment

terms

RMB’000 RMB’000   

Deposits and other receivables 450,920 674,843

Investment in listed debt securities 21,420 33,425

Investment in unlisted debt securities — 98,813   

The Group assessed the loss allowance for deposits and other receivables, investment in listed debt securities and investment in unlisted 

debt securities on 12m ECL for internal credit rating of low risk and lifetime ECL basis for internal credit rating of watch list (not 

credit-impaired). In determining the ECL, the Group performs periodic review on the financial position of the debtors, its settlement 

status and other contractual conditions to ensure it is financially viable to settle these financial assets.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group has applied nil to 2.09% (2021: 0.01% to 100%) of credit loss rate as at 31 August 2022 

and concluded that adequate impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amount. No impairment loss (2021: RMB217,000) has been 

provided for the remaining deposits and other receivables with internal credit rating of low risk for the year ended 31 August 2022.

For investments in debt securities, the Group has applied 1.04% (2021: 2.82%) of credit loss rate as at 31 August 2022 and concluded 

that adequate impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amount.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii) The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for deposits and other receivables.

12m ECL

lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

As at 1 September 2020 952 — 11,706 12,658

Changes due to financial instruments recognised 

as at 1 September 2020

— Impairment losses reversed (Note (a)) (620) — (2,301) (2,921)

New financial assets originated or purchased 

(Note (b)) 3,079 — — 3,079

Derecognition upon loss of control of Affected 

Entities (3,194) — (9,405) (12,599)     

As at 31 August 2021 217 — — 217

Changes due to financial instruments recognised 

as at 1 September 2021

— Impairment losses reversed (Note (a)) (217) — — (217)

New financial assets originated or purchased 

(Note (b)) 487 — — 487     

As at 31 August 2022 487 — — 487     

Notes:

a. Changes in the loss allowance for deposits and other receivables is mainly due to changes of credit risk with gross carrying 

amount amounted to RMB1,259,000 (2021: RMB36,943,000) during the year ended 31 August 2022.

b. The amounts represent origination of new deposits and other receivables (net of those settled) with gross carrying amount 

amounted to RMB23,290,000 (2021: RMB997,567,000) resulted in an increase loss allowances of RMB487,000 (2021: 

RMB3,079,000) during the year ended 31 August 2022.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment management (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv) The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for investments in debt securities.

12m ECL

lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

As at 1 September 2020

New investments in debt securities purchased 

(Note (a)) 3,725 — — 3,725     

As at 31 August 2021 3,725 — — 3,725

Impairment losses reversed (Note (b)) (3,489) — — (3,489)

Exchange adjustments (13) — — (13)     

As at 31 August 2022 223 — — 223     

Notes:

a. The amounts represent purchase of investments in debt securities with gross carrying amount of RMB132,238,000, resulted in an 

increase of loss allowances of RMB3,725,000 during the year ended 31 August 2021.

b. The amounts mainly represent redemption of investments in debt securities with gross carrying amount of RMB110,561,000, 

resulted in a reversal of loss allowances of RMB3,489,000 during the year ended 31 August 2022.

(v) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under the 

respective contracts.

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for financial guarantee contracts:

12m ECL

lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

As at 1 September 2020

Impairment losses recognised — 271,841 — 271,841     

As at 31 August 2021 — 271,841 — 271,841

Changes due to financial instruments recognised 

as at 1 September 2021

— Impairment losses recognised — 26,380 — 26,380

— Amortised income recognised — (21,248) — (21,248)     

As at 31 August 2022 — 276,973 — 276,973     
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the 
agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest 
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest rates are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived 
from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting period.

Weighted
average On demand 3 months Total

effective or less than 1–3 to 1–5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months 1 year years cash flows amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000        

At 31 August 2022
Trade and other payables 168,497 — — — 168,497 168,497
Borrowings

— fixed rate 2.2 513 — 4,608 269,760 274,881 245,255
— variable rate 2.3 35,337 304 93,734 — 129,375 127,556

Lease liabilities 4.3 285 571 1,427 — 2,283 2,243
Financial guarantee contracts 4,604,525 — — — 4,604,525 276,973        

4,809,157 875 99,769 269,760 5,179,561 820,524        

At 31 August 2021
Trade and other payables 241,983 — — — 241,983 241,983
Borrowings

— variable rate 1.9 273 556 176,755 — 177,584 174,258
Lease liabilities 4.8 285 571 2,568 2,283 5,707 5,477
Financial guarantee contracts 5,242,500 — — — 5,242,500 271,841        

5,485,041 1,127 179,323 2,283 5,667,774 693,559        

The amounts of RMB4,604,525,000 (2021: RMB5,242,500,000) for financial guarantee contracts are the 
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed 
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of 
the reporting period, the management recognised financial guarantee contracts amounted to RMB276,973,000 
(2021: RMB271,841,000) under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on 
the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the 
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate benchmark reform
As listed in note 33(b), several of the Group’s HIBOR bank borrowings may be subject to the interest rate 
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to new benchmark 
interest rates, including announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to 
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, 
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank borrowings linked to HIBOR will continue till 
maturity and hence, not subject to transition.

(d) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The note provides information about how the Group determines fair value of various financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and 
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Fair value as at

Financial assets 31 August 2022 31 August 2021
Fair value
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)     

Financial assets at FVTPL Assets 
RMB28,721,000

Assets 
RMB32,978,000

Level 2 — Quoted price based on 
financial institution at the end 
of the reporting period.

Financial assets at FVTPL Assets 
RMB103,911,000

Assets 
RMB40,276,000

Level 3 As at 31 August 2022: 
— Net asset value as stated on 
the quotation report issued by 
financial institutions.

As at 31 August 2021: 
— Discounted cash flow. 
Future cash flows are estimated 
based on expected return.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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33. Financial Instruments (continued)

(d) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Total
RMB’000  

At 1 September 2020 406,000
Purchases 592,429
Change in fair value 42,361
Disposals/Settlements (1,000,514)  
 
At 31 August 2021 and 1 September 2021 40,276
Purchases 97,554
Change in fair value 5,881
Disposals/Settlements (39,800)  

At 31 August 2022 103,911  
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34. Acquisitions of a Subsidiary

For the year ended 31 August 2021

Acquisition of Huiyang Primary School
On 22 January 2021, the Group entered into agreements with independent third parties to acquire 70% of the 
school sponsor’s interest in Huiyang Primary School, at a total consideration of RMB130,900,000 (the “Acquisition 
of Huiyang Primary School”). The transaction was completed on 29 January 2021.

Huiyang Primary School is established in 2003 and occupied a site area of approximately 45 mu (equivalent 
to approximately 30,000 square metres) with a construction area of approximately 35,000 square metres. It is 
principally engaged in the provision of full spectrum private fundamental education in the PRC. The Acquisition of 
Huiyang Primary School has been accounted for using the purchase method. The directors of the Company are of 
the view that with Huiyang Primary School’s long standing operating history, good reputation and its close proximity 
to Shenzhen, the Acquisition of Huiyang Primary School has synergy effect with the Group’s Huizhou School in 
Huizhou and further expand the Group’s coverage in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

The excess of the total consideration over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired resulted in goodwill 
of RMB66,350,000 which is tax deductible at the time when the business is disposed of. The acquired assets and 
liabilities have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

Consideration transferred

RMB’000  

Cash 130,900  

Assets recognised and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

RMB’000  

Property, plant and equipment 107,146
Right-of-use assets 20,680
Intangible assets 4,900
Trade and other receivables 888
Bank balances and cash 12,034
Contract liabilities (8,641)
Trade and other payables (44,793)  

92,214  
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34. Acquisitions of a Subsidiary (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2021 (continued)

Acquisition of Huiyang Primary School (continued)
The fair value of other receivables at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB674,000, which is also the gross 
contractual amounts of other receivables.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

RMB’000  

Consideration transferred 130,900
Non-controlling interests 27,664
Less: fair value of net assets acquired (92,214)  

Goodwill arising on acquisition 66,350  

Goodwill arose in the Acquisition of Huiyang Primary School because the cost of the combination included a control 
premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to better 
geographic arrangement and networking effect as the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market 
development and the assembled workforce of Huiyang Primary School. These benefits are not recognised separately 
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Huiyang Primary School

RMB’000  

Cash consideration 130,900
Less: consideration payable (7,000)
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired (12,034)  

111,866  

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 August 2021 from the Affected Entities is RMB17,000 attributable to 
the additional business generated by Huiyang Primary School. Revenue for the year ended 31 August 2021 from the 
Affected Entities includes RMB24,969,000 generated from Huiyang Primary School.
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35. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Dividend
payable Borrowings

Lease
liabilities

Amounts 
due to 

Affected
Entities

Accrued 
issued

costs
Interest

payables
Other

payables Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000         

At 1 September 2020 — 2,785,520 529,922 — 283 6,303 — 3,322,028
Financing cash flows (262,336) 1,059,234 (31,582) — (283) (164,438) (30,100) 570,495
Non-cash movement:

Acquisition of a subsidiary — — — — — — 43,000 43,000
New leases entered/lease modified 

(note 36(a)) — — 583,351 — — — — 583,351
Interest on lease liabilities — — 33,043 — — — — 33,043
Lease terminated (note 36(b)) — — (263,583) — — — — (263,583)
Foreign exchange difference (4,265) (2,226) — — — — — (6,491)
Dividend distribution 266,601 — — — — — — 266,601
Interest expenses on borrowings — — — — — 162,630 — 162,630
Derecognition upon loss of control 

of Affected Entities — (3,668,270) (845,674) 208,772 — (4,495) (12,900) (4,322,567)         

At 31 August 2021 — 174,258 5,477 208,772 — — — 388,507
Financing cash flows (231,378) 203,737 (3,424) (102,842) — (8,319) — (142,226)
Non-cash movement:

Interest on lease liabilities — — 190 — — — — 190
Foreign exchange difference 1,146 20,291 — — — — — 21,437
Dividend distribution 230,232 — — — — — — 230,232
Interest expenses on borrowings — — — — — 8,319 — 8,319
Settlement through pledged

bank deposits (note 36(c)) — (25,475) — — — — — (25,475)         

At 31 August 2022 — 372,811 2,243 105,930 — — — 480,984         



Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited142

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. Major Non-Cash Transactions
(a) During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group entered into new lease agreements for the use of leased 

properties for 3 months to 30 years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities of RMB601,532,000 and RMB583,351,000 respectively.

(b) During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group terminated a lease agreement for the use of lease 
properties, on date of termination, the Group derecognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of 
RMB227,161,000 and RMB263,583,000 respectively.

(c) During the year ended 31 August 2022, borrowings of RMB25,475,000 have been settled through deposits 
pledged to banks to secure bank facilities granted to the Group.

37. Related Party Disclosure
During the years ended 31 August 2022 and 2021, the Group entered into the following transactions with Mr. Liu, 
Ms. Li and related parties, which are controlled by Mr. Liu and/or their close family members:

Related parties Relationship Nature of transactions 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000     

東莞市富盈酒店有限公司
Dongguan Cinese Hotel 
Management Co. Ltd*

Controlled by Mr. Liu Hospitality expenses — 2,216

Ms. Li (Note) Controlling equity holder 
and director

Interest expenses in relation 
to lease liabilities

— 32

     

* The English names are for identification purpose only.

Note: During the year ended 31 August 2020, Ms. Li leased a property to Guangdong Guangzheng and the Group has recognised right-of-use assets 

and lease liabilities of RMB649,000 and RM642,000 at the date of initial application of IFRS 16, respectively. During the year ended 31 August 

2021, interest expenses in relation to the lease liabilities amounting to RMB32,000 were recognised as finance costs as set out in note 9 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Amounts due from/to Affected Entities
Details of balances with Affected Entities are set out in notes 18 and 24.

Guarantees in support of the bank borrowings
Details of financial guarantee provided by Mr. Liu and Guangdong Guangzheng in respect of the bank borrowings 
are set out in note 26.

Details of financial guarantee contracts in support of the bank borrowings of the Affected Entities provided by the 
Company and Dongguan Ruixing are set out in note 27.
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37. Related Party Disclosure (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management of the Group during the year were as 
follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Short-term benefits 7,094 11,589
Post-employment benefits 29 123
Share-based payment expenses 1,527 1,976   

8,650 13,688   

38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and 
fully paid 

share capital/
registered 

capital Equity interests attributable to the Group Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

2022 2021 2022 2021        

Remaining Business

東莞瑞興商務服務有限公司 
Dongguan Ruixing Business 
Services Co., Ltd. *

The PRC HK$1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Information technology outsourcing 
and educational consultancy service 
(Note iii)

東莞市睿興後勤服務有限公司
Dongguan Ruixing Logistics 
Service Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

東莞市睿興商務服務有限公司
Dongguan Ruixing2 Business 
Service Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Educational consultancy service (Note iii)

東莞市睿興科技服務有限公司
Dongguan Ruixing Technology 
Service Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Educational consultancy service (Note iii)
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Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and 
fully paid 

share capital/
registered 

capital Equity interests attributable to the Group Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

2022 2021 2022 2021        

東莞市文達教育諮詢有限公司 
Dongguan Wenda Education 
Consulting Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Educational consultancy and activities 
planning service (Note iii)

贛州興聚企業管理有限公司 
Ganzhou Xingju Corporate 
Management Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

贛州裕順企業管理有限公司
Ganzhou Yushun Corporate 
Management Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

贛州廣道企業管理有限公司
Ganzhou Guangdao Corporate 
Management Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB – (Note i) — — 100% 100% Information technology service and 
education consultancy service (Note iii)

贛州凱發企業管理有限公司
Ganzhou kaifa Corporate 
Management Co., Ltd. *

The PRC RMB1,000,000 — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

清遠眾輝商務服務有限公司 
Qingyuan Zhonghui 
Commercial Trading Co., Ltd

The PRC RMB – (Note i) — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

清遠昌潤商務服務有限公司
Qingyuan Changrun 
Commercial Trading Co., Ltd

The PRC RMB – (Note i) — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

清遠博翔商務服務有限公司
Qingyuan Boxiang 
Commercial Trading Co., Ltd

The PRC RMB – (Note i) — — 100% 100% Provision of school supply chain related 
service and educational consultancy 
service (Note iii)

Bright Education (HK) Co. Limited
光正教育(香港)有限公司

Hong Kong HK$1 — — 100% 100% Investment holding (Note ii)

Wisdom Bright Asset 
Management Limited
睿見資產管理有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,980,000 100% 100% — — Investment advice and fund management 
activities (Note ii)

* The English names are for identification purpose only.

38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
Notes:

i. As at the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, no registered capital has been paid.

ii. These subsidiaries operates in Hong Kong.

iii. These subsidiaries are limited liability companies incorporated and operates in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of 
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries have issued any debt securities during the year and at the end of the reporting period.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

Name of Subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting

rights held by 
non-controlling interests

Loss allocated to 
non-controlling interests

Accumulated 
non-controlling interests

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000        

Jieyang School The PRC — — — (53,926) — —
Yunfu Guangzheng and 

Yunfu School
The PRC — — — (21,407) — —

Foshan Zhonghui and 
Chancheng School

The PRC — — — (53,400) — —

Huizhou Ruicheng and 
Huiyang Primary School

The PRC — — — (27,664) — —

Individually immaterial 
subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests

The PRC — — — (2,421) — —

        

— (158,818) — —        

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling 
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup 
eliminations.
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38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

Jieyang School

2021
RMB’000  

Revenue 79,013  

Expenses (327,974)  

Loss for the year (248,961)  

Loss for the year attributable to the Company (195,035)
Loss for the year attributable to non-controlling interests of Jieyang School (53,926)  

Loss for the year (248,961)  

Net cash inflow from operating activities 15,649  

Net cash outflow from investing activities (17,780)  

Net cash inflow from financing activities —  
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38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

Yunfu Guangzheng and Yunfu School

2021
RMB’000  

Revenue 46,149  

Expenses (91,277)  

Loss for the year (45,128)  

Loss for the year attributable to the Company (23,721)
Lo ss for the year attributable to non-controlling interests of Yunfu Guangzheng and 

Yunfu School (21,407)  

Loss for the year (45,128)  

Net cash inflow from operating activities 14,037  

Net cash outflow from investing activities (21,868)  

Net cash outflow from financing activities (950)  
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38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

Foshan Zhonghui and Chancheng School

2021
RMB’000  

Revenue —  

Expenses (267,000)  

Loss for the year (267,000)  

Loss for the year attributable to the Company (213,600)
Lo ss for the year attributable to non-controlling interests of Foshan Zhonghui and 

Chancheng School (53,400)  

Loss for the year (267,000)  

Net cash inflow from operating activities 31,866  

Net cash outflow from investing activities (18,508)  

Net cash outflow from financing activities (13,000)  
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38. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

Huizhou Ruicheng and Huiyang Primary School

2021
RMB’000  

Revenue 24,969  

Expenses (183,533)  

Loss for the year (158,564)  

Loss for the year attributable to the Company (130,900)
Lo ss for the year attributable to non-controlling interests of Huizhou Ruicheng and 

Huiyang Primary School (27,664)  

Loss for the year (158,564)  

Net cash outflow from operating activities (12,912)  

Net cash inflow from investing activities 7  

Net cash inflow from financing activities 12,900  
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39. Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of the Company

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1,018 1,851
Right-of-use assets 2,164 5,409
Investments in subsidiaries 9,560 9,560   

12,742 16,820   

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables 1,321 9,484
Amounts due from subsidiaries 4,116 747
Amounts due from Affected Entities 6,008 8,358
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 103,911 40,276
Investments in debt securities 21,197 128,513
Pledged bank deposits 61,638 82,995
Bank balances and cash 58,066 27,487   

256,257 297,860   
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2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued expenses 5,241 2,506
Amounts due to subsidiaries — 12,011
Lease liabilities 2,243 3,234
Borrowings 92,369 124,470
Financial guarantee contracts 173,270 160,590   

273,123 302,811   

Net current liabilities (16,866) (4,951)   

Total assets less current liabilities (4,124) 11,869   

Capital and reserves
Share capital 19,263 19,263
Reserves (268,642) (9,637)   

(249,379) 9,626   

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities — 2,243
Borrowings 245,255 —   

(4,124) 11,869   

39. Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of the Company (continued)
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39. Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of the Company (continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

Share
premium

Share
options
reserve

Shares held
for share

award
scheme

Accumulated
losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

At 1 September 2020 722,497 811 (29,955) (236,304) 457,049
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year — — — (204,548) (204,548)
Recognition of share-based payments — — 2,832 — 2,832
Share vested under share award scheme — — (141) 141 —
Exercise of share options 2,442 (811) — — 1,631
Dividend recognised as distribution (266,601) — — — (266,601)      

At 31 August 2021 458,338 — (27,264) (440,711) (9,637)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year — — — (31,863) (31,863)
Recognition of share-based payments — — 3,090 — 3,090
Share vested under share award scheme — — (141) 141 —
Dividend recognised as distribution (230,232) — — — (230,232)      

At 31 August 2022 228,106 — (24,315) (472,433) (268,642)      
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